ETHICAL ISSUES OF PRENATAL SCREENING FOR DOWN'S SYNDROME

PhD Thesis

Adél Tóth, MA

Department of Medical Genetics Medical Faculty University of Szeged, Hungary

> Szeged 2009

Table of contents

List of publications related to the PhD thesis	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Summary	vi
1. Introduction	1
1.1.Research objectives	1
1.2.Research methods	
1.2.1.Biomedical ethics approach	
1.2.2. Interpretive ethics approach	4
1.2.3. Empirical sociological approach: a questionnaire study	5
2. Goals of prenatal Down's syndrome screening – competing principles of benefice	ence and
respect for autonomy	
2.1.Goal of disease prevention: a critique	6
2.1.1.Problems with the ethical justification of the goal of prevention	
2.1.2. Negative social implications of the goal of prevention	7
2.2.Goal of enhancing parents' reproductive autonomy: an approval	
2.2.1.Scope of reproductive autonomy	
2.2.2. Moral status of foetuses with disability	
2.2.3. Social implications of the goal of enhancing reproductive autonomy	
3. Confusion on the issue of what screening technology should be applied	
3.1.Debated questions of screening technology	
3.1.1.Too many screening methods	
3.1.2. Reliability of data on screening performances of tests	14
3.1.3. Issues of using biochemical or ultrasound screening, or both	14
3.1.4. Issues of using first trimester or second trimester screening, or both	15
3.1.5. Issues of offering prenatal diagnosis on maternal age	15
3.2.Need for professional guidelines on screening technology	
4. Role of comprehensive and personalised information in enhancing parents' repr	
autonomy	
4.1.Pre-test information	
4.1.1.Factors influencing information giving: attitudes of pregnant women and me	edical
professionals to screening	
4.1.2. Contents of pre-test information	
4.2.Post-test information	
4.2.1.Risk presentation	
4.2.2. Risk perception	

5. Genetic counselling relationship of counsellors and women with an increased chance	of
having an affected pregnancy	23
5.1. Views of counsellors on the goal of reproductive genetic counselling	23
5.1.1. Preventing diseases—an information guidance approach	23
5.1.2. Preventing diseases and respecting reproductive autonomy—a transitory approact	h 24
5.1.3. Enhancing the autonomous choice of parents—an informative approach	24
5.1.4. Enhancing the careful deliberation of parents—an interpretive approach	25
5.2. Genetic counselling expectations of counsellees	25
5.2.1. Pre-counselling expectations of counsellees	26
5.2.2. Impacts of expectations and their fulfilment on actual decision-making	27
5.2.3. Evaluating the expectations of counsellees and comparing them with the views of	
counsellors	
5.2.4. Characteristics of genetic counselling meeting the expectations of counsellees	29
6. Method of interpretive genetic counselling promoting the careful decision-making of	
counsellees	30
6.1. The Gadamerian four-openness model of interpretation	30
6.2. Process of interpretation in reproductive genetic counselling	31
6.2.1. Openness to the counsellor	31
6.2.2. Openness to the counsellee	32
6.2.3. Openness to the disease and its impacts	33
6.2.4. Openness to the cultural and social circumstances	33
6.3. Advantages and disadvantages of interpretive genetic counselling	34
7. Ethical importance of discussing publicly the pre- and postnatal issues of Down's	
syndrome	35
7.1. Impacts of public discourse on prenatal Down's syndrome screening	35
7.1.1. Gaining public support for the introduction of a formal prenatal Down's syndrom	ne
screening programme	36
7.1.2. Building social consensus on the application of prenatal screening	37
7.2. Impacts of public discourse on postnatal care for people with Down's syndrome	38
7.2.1. Increasing public awareness about lives of people with Down's syndrome	38
7.2.2. Improving the quality of life of people with Down's syndrome	39
8. Conclusions	40
9. References	42
Appendices	

List of publications related to the PhD thesis

Papers published in journals with an impact factor:

- I. Adél Tóth, Tibor Nyári, János Szabó. Changing views on the goal of reproductive genetic counselling in Hungary. *European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology & Reproductive Biology* 2008;137(1):3-9. IF: 1,273
- II. Adél Tóth, Péter Szeverényi. Interpretation in reproductive genetic counseling: a methodological framework. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2007;28(3):141-145. IF: 1,123

Further papers related to the subject of the Thesis:

- III. Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr. A tájékoztatás legfontosabb etikai vonatkozásai a Downszindróma praenatalis szűrése során. [Ethical aspects of disclosing information on prenatal screening for Down's syndrome.] Orvosi Hetilap 2005;146(6):259-265.
- IV. Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr. Miért nem lehetséges a semleges jellegű genetikai tanácsadás? [Why is non-directive genetic counselling impossible?] Magyar Nőorvosok Lapja 2005;68(0):113-120.
- V. Adél Tóth. The role of values in genetic counselling. *Studia Bioetica* 2005; Volume 2: 1-7. http://utopia.duth.gr/~xirot/BIOETHICS accessed 10/05/2009
- VI. Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr. A Down-szindróma praenatalis szűrésének néhány etikai vonatkozása. [Ethical implications of prenatal screening for Down's syndrome.] Orvosi Hetilap 2000;141(42):2293-2298.
- VII. Tóth Adél. Az értelmező orvosi etika szerepe a Down-szindrómás gyermeket nevelő családok és az orvosaik közötti kapcsolat kialakításában. [Role of interpretive ethics in building relations between physicians and families having children with Down's syndrome.] *Pediáter* 2000;9(4):297-305.
- VIII. Tóth Adél. A Down-szindróma prenatális diagnózisát követő terhességmegszakítás etikai kérdései. [Ethical issues of pregnancy termination following the diagnosis of Down's syndrome.] *Pediáter* 1999;8(4):311-316.

Paper related to the ethical analysis method of the Thesis

IX. Adél Tóth. The birth of bioethics and its basic principles. In: Bettina Pikó (ed.): Introduction to medicine. Basic principles of behavioral sciences and preventive medicine. Szeged: University of Szeged; 2004. p. 133-145.

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank Professor Dr. János Szabó, head of the Department of Medical Genetics, University of Szeged that he directed my scientific interest towards the ethical issues of prenatal Down's syndrome screening and made me possible to write my PhD thesis in his scientific programme.

I am thankful to Dr. Péter Szeverényi, Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Debrecen and Dr. habil. Tibor Nyári, Department of Medical Informatics, University of Szeged for their professional and collegial support by which they contributed to the success of our common papers.

I am grateful to Dr. Éva Demeter, Dr. Csilla Keresztes, and Edit Vágvölgyi, Group for the Training of English-Hungarian Medical Translators, University of Szeged for checking some of my papers related to the Thesis for linguistic correctness and for preparing me for an exam in a second foreign language that was required by the PhD programme.

I am grateful to Dr. habil. Bettina Pikó and Dr. habil. Anikó Juhász, Department of Behavioural Sciences, University of Szeged for their useful advices, encouragement, and friendly support by which they facilitated the accomplishment of the PhD thesis.

I am thankful to the pregnant women attending the genetic counselling clinic of the Department of Medical Genetics for their participation in our questionnaire study. I wish to thank Judit Bóna-Tóth and Edina Benyik for their technical assistance in the research.

I am thankful to the participants of Down Symposiums of Szeged as their presentations and comments helped me to increase my knowledge and to develop my understanding about prenatal Down's syndrome screening and lives of people with Down's syndrome.

Finally, with gratitude and thanks, I dedicate my PhD paper to my family, especially to my husband and my two daughters, who with their love, patience and support provided me such a firm background that I could continue my PhD work despite the changes that had happened in my circumstances.

Summary

Introduction: In the last three decades, prenatal Down's syndrome screening, which provides women with information about their individual risk of having an affected pregnancy, has become one of the most rapidly evolving fields of medicine. The development has resulted in the introduction of formal screening programmes in several countries and has promoted the spread of *ad hoc* screening in some others.

Objectives: Studying the ethical impacts of prenatal Down's syndrome screening is deemed essential, as while screening creates new perspectives for the parents to tackle the problems of Down's syndrome, it also induces new complex problems. The objectives of the PhD thesis are to answer the question whether the implementation of prenatal Down's syndrome screening is ethically justifiable at all, and, if the answer is positive, to explore the moral issues that should be taken into account through its application.

Methods: In those territories where the Thesis has added new information to the previously existing knowledge, the biomedical ethics approach, the interpretive ethics approach, and the sociological method of a questionnaire study were applied. Where data were collected on already existing knowledge, literature review was performed.

Results: By analysing the competing goals of prenatal screening (prevention and enhancing autonomy), the PhD thesis has contended that the implementation of prenatal Down's syndrome screening is ethically acceptable, provided that its goal is defined as enhancing the parents' reproductive autonomy, and that the voluntary participation of women is ensured. The Thesis has revealed that the goal of enhancing reproductive autonomy has an effect on the overall process of screening. Of these implications, first, the reasons of uncertainty concerning the use of appropriate screening methods were studied, then the professionals' and the pregnant women's attitudes to screening were interpreted and a guideline was constructed to help professionals give verbal and written pre-test information. Later on, the views of genetic counsellors on the goal of genetic counselling and the genetic counselling expectations of pregnant women were explored. Based on these data, the abandonment of non-directive consultation style and the application of interpretive genetic counselling have been suggested. The new, interpretive method was elaborated in detail by the Thesis. By acknowledging the social impacts of prenatal screening, the Thesis has supported the development of those forums where the prenatal and postnatal issues of Down's syndrome are discussed jointly.

Conclusion: The PhD thesis can serve as an example for presenting how medical ethics theories and experiences deriving from everyday medical practice can be combined. Thus, its results can be utilised in the fields of prenatal screening, genetic counselling and academic education of medical ethics.

1. Introduction

Down's syndrome or trisomy 21, as it is frequently called because of its chromosomal origin identified by J. Lejeune in 1959, is the most common genetic cause of mental disability and occurs in approximately one in seven hundred births [1,2]. Besides learning disabilities, which varies from mild (IQ 50-70) to severe (IQ 35-50), individuals with Down's syndrome can have other serious disorders, e.g. heart defects, gastrointestinal problems, hearing loss, ophthalmic disorders, susceptibility to infections, early Alzheimer disease [3]. With the development of medicine, most of these diseases have become treatable and owing to early intervention programmes beginning in infancy, the physical and cognitive ability of the affected children may be improved. So, they can develop the skills of walking, talking, dressing, etc. although, with a delay compared to other children, and resulting from special education acquired in separated or inclusive classes, many affected children learn to read and write. In a supportive environment, several adults with Down's syndrome can hold regular job and can lead an assisted independent life [4,5].

The relatively high incidence of Down's syndrome and the severity of diseases associated with it have generated an increased interest of medicine towards this genetic condition, and in the last three decades, prenatal Down's syndrome screening has become one of the most rapidly evolving fields of biomedicine. Nowadays, by the use of screening and diagnostic technologies, prenatal medicine can offer women information about their individual risk of having a pregnancy with Down's syndrome, which risk may significantly differ from their age-related risk, and for women with an increased chance of having an affected foetus, the possibility of accurate diagnosis. These achievements have resulted in the introduction of nationally organised, universally provided prenatal Down's syndrome screening in a growing number of countries [6-9]. In some other states, like in Hungary, which lack a formal screening programme, the professional considerations and the parental choices have contributed to the spread of *ad hoc* screening that works outside central coordination [10-12].

1.1. Research objectives

In ethical terms, prenatal genetic screening for Down's syndrome constitutes a special territory of the application of modern medical technology, and these specialities derive from the characteristics that it is an antenatally performed screening procedure and it screens for a disability condition which is not life threatening but causes severe handicap. Since prenatal Down's syndrome screening touches the sensitive fields of

reproductive decisions and social attitudes towards people with disability, its history has been accompanied by constant debates. The proponents, the majority of pregnant women and obstetricians, have welcomed the new opportunities provided by prenatal screening [13], and this enthusiasm has made Down's syndrome screening to be the standard component of antenatal care and has launched the proliferation of screening methods. The opponents, feminist activists and disability rights advocates, have criticised the negative effects and have questioned the necessity of screening on the grounds that it forces women to make unwanted decisions, it has a "search and destroy" mission concerning the affected foetuses, and it includes discriminative and eugenic hints against disabled people [14-18]. The inherent dichotomy hidden in prenatal Down's syndrome screening, meaning that while it creates new perspectives for the parents to tackle the problems of Down's syndrome, it also induces new complex medical and social problems, renders the study of the ethical implications of this medical procedure essential. The ethical analysis has the tasks to answer the question whether the implementation of prenatal Down's syndrome screening is ethically justifiable at all, and if the answer is positive, to explore the moral issues that should be taken into consideration through the application of prenatal Down's syndrome screening. In Hungary, these topics have not yet been studied, although, some of them have been thoroughly discussed in the international literature. Thus, in the dissertation, I intend to present the results of my theoretical and empirical researches that have added new elements to the knowledge on the ethical issues of prenatal Down's syndrome screening. Further aims of the doctoral paper are to give practitioners an ethical guideline on prenatal Down's syndrome screening and to outline a methodological framework of reproductive genetic counselling, which follows prenatal screening in several cases. A fulfilment of these tasks necessitates studying the following topics:

- 1) Ethical acceptability of prenatal Down's syndrome screening: What are the aims of the application of prenatal Down's syndrome screening? Are these aims similar to the aims of other kinds of population screening programmes, or are they different? Are these aims ethically acceptable?
- 2) Implications of an ethically justifiable aim on medical practice: What practice should be offered to meet the ethically justifiable aim of screening? Which screening methods should be used? How much and what kind of information should be disclosed to women and couples about prenatal screening? What kind of doctor-patient interaction should be formed through genetic counselling concerning Down's syndrome? What are the counsellees' expectations on genetic counselling? Can these expectations be

satisfied by applying non-directive genetic counselling, or the use of a newer method is necessary? What are the characteristics of this new method of genetic counselling?

3) Wider social impacts of the application of prenatal Down's syndrome screening: What are the wider social impacts of screening? By what means can socially, culturally and morally important values be preserved through the implementation of prenatal Down's syndrome screening? What changes are required in order to adjust the Hungarian prenatal screening practice to widely agreed ethical principles?

The need to answer these questions has been strengthened by the current public interest emerging towards the introduction of universal prenatal screening in Hungary [19,20], and by the circumstance, that the importance of first trimester nuchal translucency screening, which is considered as an indispensable part of the most effective screening methods, has been discovered by physicians working at the Medical Faculty of University of Szeged, Hungary [21]. This discovery has inspired the co-operation of physicians and medical ethicists in Szeged, which is regarded unique in the Hungarian health care context, and the results of this common work are presented in the doctoral paper.

1.2. Research methods

To acquire data about what is already known on the topic of the dissertation, a literature review was performed, being the basic method of every scientific research, which has covered papers dealing with theoretical medical ethics, the special ethical problems of prenatal screening and diagnosis, and the medical technology of prenatal Down's syndrome screening. In those territories where the doctoral paper has added new information to the previously existing knowledge, three types of methods were applied: the biomedical ethics approach, the interpretive ethics approach, and the empirical sociological method of a questionnaire study.

1.2.1. Biomedical ethics approach

Since biomedical ethics, or briefly bioethics, the prevailing view of recent medical ethics thinking, has been developed by the purpose of addressing and solving the ethical problems posed by technological medicine, adopting this system to the issues of prenatal Down's syndrome screening seems obvious [22-26]. A justification given by the biomedical ethics approach can ensure widespread acceptance of the use of a medical procedure, as in making moral judgements about what is right and what is wrong, bioethics combines the traditional ideas of medicine, such as beneficence and non-maleficence and the values of democratic societies, such as respect for autonomy and justice. These four

principles are also deemed as a consensus between the two main philosophical ethical theories, deontology and utilitarianism. Therefore, the moral commitments determined by the four principles can fulfil both the criteria of deontology, that a morally right action should follow the moral duties, and of utilitarianism, that a morally right action should maximise the overall welfare. A firmly justified medical decision is expected to take into consideration more than one ethical principle [27], since in biomedical ethics moral duties are perceived as *prima facie* duties that can be overridden if good reasons are found, however, their infringements leave moral traces. By relying on the ethical reasoning method provided by the four principles, in the dissertation, the traditional goal of prenatal screening (goal of prevention) has been challenged and another, ethically consistent goal (enhancing parents' autonomy) has been proposed. The bioethics approach has also been fruitfully used when studying the social impacts of prenatal screening and the issues of respect for autonomy, which principle has taken precedence over the other ones in the medical practice of Western-type societies.

1.2.2. Interpretive ethics approach

While, in the international literature, interpretive ethics is regarded as an alternative or a complementary approach relating to the dominant bioethics view [28-32], in Hungary, this approach has been hardly known yet, so, the application of interpretive ethics to prenatal Down's syndrome screening should be considered as a novelty of the dissertation.

The interpretive approach emphasises that through the medical interaction, interpretive processes take place where the physician interprets the patient's symptoms in order to set up a diagnosis and tries to explore what meaning is attributed to the disease by the patient in order to provide proper help, which is not merely medical but also psychological and emotional. By recognising the connection between medical practice and the process of interpretation, the most important doctrines of philosophical hermeneutics elaborated by Hans-Georg Gadamer [33] may be incorporated in the methods of medical science. The ideas that human understanding is always influenced by the context in which it occurs, and that in the process of understanding both the phenomenon being interpreted and the interpreter interact with each other have strongly affected medical ethics. Thus, the interpretive ethics approach contends that the moral deliberations of patients are significantly determined by their cultural and social traditions and not only by the rationally acknowledged personal values, as bioethics has previously presumed [34]. The interpretive approach places the doctor-patient relationship into a new perspective as well; it rejects the view of traditional medical ethics that considers patients as only the passive

subjects of medical interventions, and it also denies the concept of bioethics that regards physicians as merely technicians whose expertise is restricted only to technical knowledge and skills [35]. In interpretive ethics, the doctor-patient interaction is viewed as a dialogical relationship in which both parties play active roles; the physician and the patient mutually share their knowledge (professional and lay) and experience (scientific and personal) that can result in a common interpretation of the situation caused by the disease, that differs from the presumptions of both participants. When, in collaboration with colleagues, I have applied this new approach to the ethical questions of genetic counselling, a deeper insight into the dynamics of the doctor-patient relationship has been gained [36]. The novelty of this work were appreciated by a prestigious, peer-reviewed international journal that, besides the publication of the results of this research, initiated a debate on the problems of genetic counselling based on the issues addressed by our paper [37]. An elaboration of the method of interpretive genetic counselling has also been owed to the application by an international journal with an impact factor [38].

1.2.3. Empirical sociological approach: a questionnaire study

In the dissertation, the biomedical and interpretive ethics approaches were applied to perform normative ethical analysis, e.g. to make considerations about what ought to be done, however, when descriptive ethical questions were studied, e.g. different moral attitudes on a given issue were explored, a sociological research method was used. Owing to a co-operation with the Department of Medical Genetics, University of Szeged, I had the opportunity to conduct descriptive ethical research on the expectations of pregnant women on genetic counselling concerning Down's syndrome. Previously, no data on this issue have been available in Hungary. Consequently, the normative moral recommendations of the dissertation are based not only on theory but also on facts coming from day-to day medical practice.

The empirical research included a quantitative questionnaire study, which was conducted among pregnant women visiting the genetic counselling clinic of the Department of Medical Genetics, University of Szeged. The questionnaire was based on the related international and Hungarian literature, was self-administered by the respondents, and was approved by the institutional ethics committee. The analysis of the empirical data required the use of a statistical programme provided by the Statistical Package for Social Sciences, version 15.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

2. Goals of prenatal Down's syndrome screening – competing principles of beneficence and respect for autonomy

A study of the ethical issues of prenatal Down's syndrome screening should begin with answering the crucial question whether the application of this medical procedure is ethically acceptable at all. Since a response to this question is strongly affected by the goals of prenatal Down's syndrome screening, in the following, I critically examine the two competing concepts given on this topic in the international and the Hungarian medical literature. As the positions relating to the ethical acceptability of prenatal screening and to the goal of it can influence both public policy and doctor-patient relationship, examining these questions with scrutiny has of vital importance. When criticising the intuitively given aim of prenatal screening and endorsing a more sophisticated goal, I intend to help professionals to choose an ethically consistent goal for their practice.

2.1. Goal of disease prevention: a critique

The first approach, motivated mainly by public health considerations, claims that the goal of prenatal screening is disease prevention; prenatal screening tests can be viewed as a form of secondary prevention, which completed with selective abortion, can reduce the number of newborn babies having Down's syndrome [39-44]. This position is influenced by the view that population screening programmes, such as mammography, colorectal or prostate cancer screening, are thought to belong to the realm of preventive medicine, which, by identifying those at increased risk, can facilitate early diagnosis and successful treatment. Furthermore, the general tendency that almost 80-90% of the parents decide against the continuation of a pregnancy affected by Down's syndrome might suggest that prenatal Down's syndrome screening serves preventive purposes [45,46]. Nonetheless, I challenge the goal of prevention by stating that this aim is intuitively given, and the lack of systematic ethical analysis reflected in the definition hinders the proponents of this view in taking into account the differences of prenatal genetic screening compared to other population screening programmes, and in recognising the wider social impacts of the goal.

2.1.1. Problems with the ethical justification of the goal of prevention

To illuminate the differences of prenatal screening and other types of population screening, I perform an ethical justification by using the reasoning method of biomedical ethics. When the implementation of population screening programmes is justified, generally, the principle of beneficence is applied as a moral argument. Benefiting the patient, contributing to the health-related welfare of others has been constituted a fundamental professional duty of physicians since the time of Hippocrates, and in nowadays biomedical ethics the duty of beneficence requires preventing harm (vaccination, etc.), removing harm (administering medication, surgical operations, etc.), and promoting good (biomedical researches, etc.) [23,47]. Naturally, screening programmes that are followed by early diagnosis and effective treatment can benefit the patient having the disease by preventing harm, so their implementation can be approved on the grounds of beneficence. However, in the case of Down's syndrome, no curing procedure exists and only the termination of affected pregnancies can be offered to the parents, thus, by screening, not the disease but the birth of a baby with the condition may be "prevented". Consequently, the foetus having the disease is not benefited as its abortion is expected in the sense of prevention. Moreover, it is theoretically dubious whether the foetus can be benefited or harmed at all, since, in biomedical ethics, only those can be benefited or harmed who have special moral status and until now, no consensus has been developed on the moral status of foetuses. Therefore, a decision whether or not a foetus is deemed as a moral person that can be benefited or harmed depends on the discretion of the parents, albeit among the conditions provided by the law.

As the application of the principle of beneficence has proved inadequate in the case of foetuses, now, this principle is applied to pregnant women participating in prenatal screening. The examination reveals that through Down's syndrome screening, not the health of pregnant women is promoted at the first place, but an opportunity is provided them to make a decision about the future of an affected pregnancy, and the territory of making choices belongs to the principle of autonomy and not to the principle of beneficence. The idea that, through antenatal Down's syndrome screening, the key issue is the parents' decision-making is well demonstrated by the resolutions of those parents even though their numbers are only few - who participate in prenatal screening but refuse the abortion of an affected foetus, for which action the goal of prevention cannot give any explanation.

2.1.2. Negative social implications of the goal of prevention

While it is recognisable, that the ethical justification of the goal of prevention is problematic, since the moral rightness of this aim cannot be proved by the principle of beneficence, the goal of prevention raises further ethical problems by its possible negative implications on widely supported social values. For example, the goal of prevention fails to recognise that deciding about the future of a Down's syndrome pregnancy represents a genuine reproductive decision and not a medical decision, where the decision-makers should be the parents and not the medical professionals. Because of the underlying presumption of the goal of prevention that the affected pregnancies will be terminated, parents may think that their reproductive liberty has suffered interference by third parties e.g. by providers of screening tests or health care decision-makers, who expect or suggest a decision which belongs exclusively to the parents' authority. It is just the notion of respect for reproductive autonomy that differentiates the expression of "*preventing the birth of a baby with Down's syndrome*" from "*avoiding the birth of a baby with Down's syndrome*" in ethical terms [48]. As, while the first expression may imply administrative, regulative or even coercive measures that constrain reproductive liberty, the last refers to allowing parents to make decisions on procreation that respects reproductive freedom.

Considering prevention as the goal of prenatal screening may violate the sensitivity and interest of families bringing up children with Down's syndrome as well [49], since it is frequently associated with the argument that the care of people with Down's syndrome imposes severe burden not only on families but also on society. The parents generally interpret this argument as discriminative and contradictory to the principle of justice, as based on social justice, people in disadvantageous situation rightly expect the support of the community in order to improve their chance for a better life.

The aim of prevention encourages the rise of eugenic thoughts too, as by emphasising the community's interests in reducing the number of newborn babies with Down's syndrome, the idea seems to be suggested that the community supports the selection of foetuses based on their genetic make-up. However, in 20th century history, eugenic thoughts served corrupt political aims and led to tragic consequences, so, refraining from eugenics constitutes an ethical imperative for recent medical genetics [50,51].

In summary, the ethical analysis has pointed out that, by contrast to other population screening programmes, the goal of prevention cannot be considered as an ethically acceptable aim of prenatal Down's syndrome screening as it cannot be justified by the principle of beneficence. Furthermore, the goal of prevention may compromise the doctor-patient relationship by giving a tacit approval to the physicians' influences on the parents' reproductive decisions and may convey negative messages on the social value of people with disability. Because of these reasons, I suggest omitting prevention out of the goals of prenatal Down's syndrome screening.

The other concept defines the goal of prenatal Down's syndrome screening as enhancing parents' reproductive autonomy by disclosing information about the genetic risk of the foetus on that basis parents can make informed decision about the future of the pregnancy and about their family planning [39,43,52,53]. The ethical justification of this aim can be performed by alluding to the principle of respect for autonomy, which is a *prima facie* moral duty in biomedical ethics and requires the recognition of the right of persons to self-governance insofar as their actions do not violate the same rights of others [23]. Noteworthy, that while a rational person's right to self-governance is widely supported, a future child's rights to autonomy is ethically debated and is associated with the issue of the moral status of foetuses. Thus, promoting the reproductive preferences of parents and supporting them to control the most intimate sphere of their life exemplify respect for autonomy, and many actions belonging to this field can be morally justified.

2.2.1. Scope of reproductive autonomy

In the developed countries, reproductive autonomy includes the rights to not procreate by using contraceptive methods and abortion; to procreate by using fertility treatments and assisted reproductive technologies; to decide the timing and number of children; to choose the mood of labour; and also to promote the health of a future child by using prenatal screening and diagnostic services [54-56]. Nonetheless, the scope of reproductive liberty is not without limits and the parents' reproductive preferences are not accepted without exceptions. For example, using selective abortion for sex selection based on social and not medical reasons is prohibited in the majority of countries, since this selection generally happens to the disadvantage of female foetuses and Western-type societies are not willing to support a policy which may strengthen discriminative tendencies [42,57]. However, contrary to the fact that prenatal screening services are also accused by perpetuating discrimination against people with disability, selective abortion of a disabled foetus has remained an important part of the parents' reproductive autonomy. In this social practice, according to my view, a widely shared belief about the differences of disability and discrimination is reflected. As, while gender-based discrimination is caused by social arrangements and can be solved by social measures, the learning disabilities of people with Down's syndrome are caused by objective, physiological factors and cannot be totally eliminated by anti-discriminatory social policy. (Nonetheless, its negative impacts can be exaggerated by discriminative social attitudes.) Despite feminist views asserting that a woman should have the right to terminate an unwanted pregnancy, however, if she

decides to have a child, she has to accept any kind of child [58], I contend that because of the special tasks and responsibilities families bringing up children with disability have to face, leaving decisions about the future of an affected pregnancy on the parents is morally justified.

For the reason that prenatal Down's syndrome screening aims to enhance the free reproductive choices of women, special attention should be paid to their voluntary participation as, sometimes, social or familial expectations make difficult to reject to participate in screening, or to continue with an affected pregnancy. Providers of prenatal screening should also be aware that while this procedure enhances parents' reproductive choices, its spread may involve the danger that the birth of a disabled child would be considered as a result of the deliberate choices of the parents, which may reduce social sympathy and support given to these families [59].

2.2.2. Moral status of foetuses with disability

When including the selective abortion of disabled foetuses in the reproductive rights, it is presumed that foetuses with disability possess lower moral status than persons or nondisabled foetuses [60]. The ethical literature offers moral arguments underlying this presumption; for example, the argument from "potential" represents a conservative idea, which is accepted even by some protestant churches in the case of disabled foetuses [61]. According to this view, embryos and foetuses are not human persons, however, they have the potential to develop into it. Our moral obligations towards them, meaning whether or not they can be destroyed, depend on the extent they include the potential to develop into a full human person. Since foetuses with disability posses a smaller degree of this potential than non-disabled foetuses, their termination can be ethically justified [62].

The argument of "replaceable foetuses" demonstrates a utilitarian idea, which demands that in decisions about the future of a disabled foetus, the utilitarian principle of maximising the overall welfare of all affected parties should be considered [63]. The utilitarian calculus on the amount of happiness and misery presumably produced by the continuation or the termination of an affected pregnancy is performed by comparing the quality of life of a future disabled child with that of a future non-disabled child. As the life of a future disabled child shows a lower quality than that of a future non-disabled child, according to the utilitarian principle, the parents have to choose the termination of an affected pregnancy, provided, they can conceive a non-disabled child in the future [64].

The lack of consensus on the moral status of foetuses has an influence on the issue of the moral status of disabled foetuses as well. Thus, the above-mentioned arguments are acceptable for those parents who are considering the termination of an affected pregnancy but are unacceptable for those who, in accordance with the Catholic Church, attribute full moral status to the foetus. In the European countries, the laws on the abortion of Down's syndrome foetuses are varying greatly. Generally, although under strict control, it is allowed before 24 weeks of gestation, when the parents have received the results of mid-trimester amniocentesis, but the foetus has not yet reached the threshold of viability [6,65].

2.2.3. Social implications of the goal of enhancing reproductive autonomy

Sometimes, the goal of enhancing the parents' reproductive autonomy is criticised on the grounds that professionals of prenatal medicine have shifted the responsibility away from themselves, since by this goal, the discriminative and eugenic features of prenatal screening can be interpreted as being the unintended consequences of the parents' individual choices [18,42]. While this objection points to the undesirable consequences of discussing the issues of prenatal Down's syndrome screening only from the perspectives of the screening participants, the aim of enhancing reproductive choices should be regarded as a thoughtfully given definition that considers both the interests of the parents' reproductive autonomy, as it does not include any expectation about the content of parental decisions about the future of an affected pregnancy; respects the sensitivity of families having children with disability, as it does not convey discriminatory meaning against disabled people; and refrains from eugenics, as it does not involve concerns about the condition of the human gene pool.

At the end of the ethical analysis of the goal of prenatal Down's syndrome screening, the initial question should be answered whether the implementation of this medical procedure is ethically acceptable. In answer to this question, I assert that if prenatal Down's syndrome screening aims to enhance the parents' reproductive autonomy, and if women's voluntary participation is ensured, its implementation is ethically acceptable. As the goal of enhancing parents' reproductive autonomy can be ethically approved by the principle of respect for autonomy, and as this goal takes also into account the moral requirements of the principle of justice by rejecting eugenic and discriminatory tendencies, I contend that only this goal can give an ethically consistent justification to prenatal screening. Obviously, a definition of the goal of prenatal screening can give only a frame to practice good medical care, but its realisation depends on the quality of the doctorpatient relationship and on the supportive social and health care contexts, which are indispensable in order to guarantee the really free choices of women through the whole process of prenatal Down's syndrome screening. On the account that prenatal Down's syndrome screening promises to enhance the parents' reproductive autonomy by giving reliable information on the genetic risk of the foetus, choosing the screening technology fulfilling best this task is regarded essential. The ethical problems derive from the feature of screening that it can identify women with an increased chance of having an affected pregnancy by using biochemical and ultrasound markers (Table 1), however, it can never reach the accuracy of invasive diagnosis. False positive and false negative results are inseparable parts of screening that may induce negative psychological consequences in women, and in cases of screen positive results, diagnostic procedures (amniocentesis, chorion villus sampling) may result in about 1% foetal loss. Therefore, screening technologies should meet the ethical requirement of "do no harm" concerning the health of mothers and foetuses, so they should perform low false positive rate. Furthermore, in the sense of utility, they should maximise the advantages for all who are affected, so they should present high detection rate and cost-effectiveness.

	First trimester	Second trimester
Ultrasound markers (based on foetal anatomy)	Increased nuchal translucency (NT) Absent nasal bone Tricuspid regurgitation Increased impedance in ductus venosus	Increased nuchal fold (NF); Absent nasal bone; Congenital heart defects; Intrauterine growth restriction; Mild cerebral ventriculomegaly; Choroid plexus cysts; Cystic hygromas; Echogenic intracardiac foci; Increased intestinal echogenicity; Duodenal atresia ("double-bubble sign"); Renal pelvis dilation; Shortened humerus and femur; Increased iliac wing angle; Clinodactyly and hypoplasia of the fifth finger; Increased space between first and second toes; Two-vessel umbilical cord
Biochemical markers (based on maternal blood serum components)	Pregnancy associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A) Free β human chorionic gonadotrophin (free β -hCG)	Alfa foetoprotein (AFP) Total or free β -hCG Unconjugated oestriol (uE ₃) Inhibin A

Table 1: Currently applied ultrasound and biochemical screening markers for Down's syndrome [66-68]

3.1. Debated questions of screening technology

When reviewing the relevant literature, confusion and uncertainty have been revealed on the questions of the most effective and safest screening methodology. Although, the literature has generally mentioned the great number of methods as the source of uncertainty [69], the ethical consequences of this uncertainty have not been systematically studied. Therefore, I think necessary to give an overview about the manifold reasons of the confusion emerging on the use of the appropriate screening method and to summarise the ethical requirements that screening strategies have to fulfil in order to dissipate this confusion.

3.1.1. Too many screening methods

The difficulty of making decisions about the use of the best technology is partly owned to the great variety of the applicable screening methods. In the last three decades, the technological development concerning antenatal Down's syndrome screening has been so enormous that currently 17-19 different screening strategies are available [70,71], which diversity of technical opportunities is without precedent in the other areas of medical care. The proliferation of methods has been fostered by the shift happened in the philosophy of screening as, while, in the 1980s and 1990s, single-type methods were used (either biochemistry or ultrasonography, and either first or second trimester tests), in the last decade complex screening methods have been introduced that apply biochemistry and ultrasonography together, or first and second trimester tests together. Thus, besides the well-known screening technologies, such as second trimester double, triple and quadruple biochemical tests and first trimester nuchal translucency scan [72-75], newer, complex screening technologies have slipped into practice (Table 2), such as the different versions of combined, integrated, stepwise sequential, and contingent screening [76-81], the advantages and disadvantages of which are not always evident for the practitioners.

First trime	ster	Second trim	ester	First and second t	nd trimester		
Screening test	Detection rate	Screening test	Detection rate	Screening test	Detection rate		
NT measurement	64–70%*	Triple screen (MSAFP, hCG, unconjugated oestriol)	69%*	Integrated (NT, PAPP-A, quad screen)	94–96%*		
Combined screen (NT measurement, PAPP-A, free or total β-hCG)	82–87%*	Quadruple screen (MSAFP, hCG, unconjugated oestriol, inhibin A)	81%*	Serum integrated (PAPP-A, quad screen)	85–88%*		
F /				Stepwise sequential First-trimester test result after <i>combined screen</i> : - Positive: diagnostic test offered - Negative: second- trimester test (<i>quad</i> <i>screen</i>) offered Final: risk assessment incorporates first and second results	95%*		
				Contingent sequential First-trimester test result after <i>combined screen</i> : - Positive: diagnostic test offered - Negative: no further testing - Intermediate: second- trimester test (<i>quad</i> <i>screen</i>) offered Final: risk assessment incorporates first and second results	88–94%‡		

Table 2: Down's syndrome screening tests and detection rates (5% screen positive rate) [82]

Abbreviations: hCG = human chorionic gonadotropin; MSAFP = maternal serum alpha-foetoprotein; NT = nuchal translucency; PAPP-A = pregnancy-associated plasma protein A; guad = guadruple.

#Modelled predicted detection rates [see reference 70]

^{*}From the FASTER study [see reference 79]

3.1.2. Reliability of data on screening performances of tests

Theoretically, the good screening performances of the complex methods, i.e. they have a high sensitivity (over 85%) and a low false positive rate (under 5%), can ease the task of choosing among them, as by their use, the number of detected Down's syndrome pregnancies can be increased and the number of invasive diagnosis can be decreased. However, in the literature, doubts have emerged about the reliability of data produced by statistical models and observation studies. A great part of proposals on future screening policies have been based on statistical modelling studies using the data of well-designed trials, but critics have assumed that these tests would not perform so well in real world situation [83]. In practice, in cases of strategies containing two-step tests, the pregnant women's participation in both parts of tests could not be totally ensured, however, it was presumed by modelling studies. Concerning observation studies, it has become clear that where nuchal translucency (NT) was measured only for the sake of scientific interest, the proportion of failed or unsatisfactory NT measurement was much larger than in intervention studies where NT was measured for the sake of risk calculation [75,84]. The confusion further increased when scientists conducting large-scale studies to compare the effectiveness of diverse screening methods made contradictory recommendations based on research data. For example, the leader of the British SURUSS study categorically opposed the introduction of contingent screening [85], while a representative of the North-American FASTER study definitely proposed it [45]. An additional ethical problem has been raised by conflicts of interests, e.g. when a screening technology has been patented (as it is the case with integrated test), since in this situation, personal prejudices may take part in proposals about the application of a particular screening technology.

3.1.3. Issues of using biochemical or ultrasound screening, or both

The new technologies have caused confusion not only by their surprisingly great number but also by their complex methods that have compelled professionals to change their previous ideas on screening. Scientific data, showing that combining biochemical screening with ultrasonography can give a better screening performance than either of the two tests alone [67], have challenged the views of those who have favoured the use of biochemical screening for the reason that serum tests are not so sensitive to professional skills than ultrasound scan [78]. As, except from serum integrated screening, all of the complex screening tests include nuchal translucency measurement, ensuring well-trained professionals who have acquired the skills necessary to perform this procedure is generally expected from recent prenatal screening services. While, previously, the concerns about the reliability of NT measurement have hindered the spread of nuchal translucency screening, nowadays, in the new screening programmes, these problems have been acknowledged and initiations have been made to solve it by setting up standards for professional skills and ultrasound equipments, by organising specific training, and by establishing ongoing quality assessment of ultrasonographers and centres [82]. Noteworthy, that the Fetal Medicine Foundation, a registered charity organisation in the United Kingdom, has supported the appropriate introduction of NT screening into clinical practice for almost a decade, and has established a process of training and quality assurance, available through the Internet [86].

3.1.4. Issues of using first trimester or second trimester screening, or both

The other professional attitude that has needed revision in light of new screening methods is the insistence on providing mainly second trimester tests. Second trimester triple and quadruple tests have been widely applied in the developed countries since the 1990s. Recently, serum and fully integrated screenings, which integrate the results of first and second trimester tests into a single risk calculation [78], also support the idea of giving risk assessment only in the second trimester, by stating that fewer women have to decide about the future of a pregnancy because of the intrauterine loss of Down's syndrome foetuses. However, in the existence of similarly effective first trimester screening methods, it is difficult to ethically justify the general use of methods giving risk assessment only in the second trimester, since they impede women in getting information earlier and in accessing to early diagnosis and early pregnancy termination. Empirical studies also suggest that pregnant women prefer first trimester screening, as, in a survey, about 70% of women stated that they would still choose first trimester screening even if all the identified Down's syndrome pregnancies miscarried before the second trimester [87,88]. Moreover, telling nothing about the findings through ultrasound scan, and remaining silent when the probability of foetal abnormality is great, which are the expectations of integrated tests concerning the first trimester part of the tests, are unacceptable for many physicians. Some of these problems are solved by stepwise sequential and contingent screenings, which offer first trimester prenatal diagnosis for women in the high-risk group, but continue screening with all the remaining women or with women in the intermediate risk group.

3.1.5. Issues of offering prenatal diagnosis on maternal age

With the development of screening technologies, the importance of maternal age in antenatal Down's syndrome screening has also been questioned, although, the association between maternal age and the risk of having a pregnancy with trisomy 21 (Table 3) has prompted a policy of offering prenatal diagnosis to pregnant women aged 35-37 years and more in the great majority of countries. In the 1970s, when this method was first applied, about 5% of pregnant women belonged to this age group who carried about 25-30% of Down's syndrome pregnancies. By the application of screening methods providing

individual risk assessment, the significance of maternal age as a screening method has seemed to be decreasing. The risk calculated for an individual person gives more reliable information than a risk estimated for an age group, as, in the first case, the maternal age-related and gestation-related risk is modified with the results of the performed screening tests. However, until now, only the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommended in 2007 to cease proposing automatically prenatal diagnosis to pregnant woman aged 35 years or more and to offer invasive diagnosis only on the results of tests providing individual risk calculation or at the request of the pregnant woman [82]. Nonetheless, the latest changes in the age distribution of pregnant women has drawn attention to the need of cautious decision-making on the role of maternal age in prenatal Down's syndrome screening. In the well-developed countries, the proportion of pregnant women aged 35 years and more is around 15-20%, so, the sensitivity of screening based on maternal age reaches 50-60% in those countries [10,89].

Maternal age (yrs)		Gestatio	on (wks)		Maternal age (yrs)		Gestation	(wks)	
	12	16	20	40		12	16	20	40
20	1068	1200	1295	1527	35	249	280	302	356
25	946	1062	1147	1352	36	196	220	238	280
30	626	703	759	895	37	152	171	185	218
31	543	610	658	776	38	117	131	142	167
32	461	518	559	659	39	89	100	108	128
33	383	430	464	547	40	68	76	82	97
34	312	280	378	446	41	51	57	62	73

Table 3: Estimated risk for trisomy 21 in relation to maternal age and gestation [75]

(Rate of foetal loss is about 30% between 12 weeks of gestation and term, and about 20% between 16 weeks and term)

3.2. Need for professional guidelines on screening technology

In answering the question what screening method should be used, the professional bodies of prenatal screening experts, obstetricians, and geneticists have fundamental responsibilities, since their statements can function as guidelines for national screening programmes, for private health care services, and even for pregnant women. The construction of professional guidelines can be supported by a summary of requirements that screening programmes have to meet according to the findings of the above analysis:

- Based on reliable data: Screening strategies should be built on the results of large-scale prospective and intervention studies to avoid biases connected to research methodology.
- Presenting good screening performance: Of the available methods, those should be used that perform a high detection rate (over 85%) and a low false positive rate (5% or less). With the decrease of false positive and false negative test results, maternal anxiety and the number of invasive diagnostic procedures can be reduced.
- Combining biochemistry with ultrasonography: According to data, this combined technology is one of the most effective ways of reaching good screening performance. Including first trimester combined screening (NT, PAPP-A, free β-hCG) in the

screening strategy should be considered. However, since obtaining nuchal translucency measurement necessitates specialised training, and nuchal translucency might not be measured successfully in an individual patient, besides combined screening, other methods should also be made available.

- Offering first trimester screening: This option can shorten the period of "tentative pregnancy" and maternal anxiety, can ensure early diagnosis, and can fulfil the preferences of the majority of pregnant women. Of the complex methods, not only the combined test but also some contingent methods make possible to complete screening in the first trimester even for women in the intermediate risk group [81].
- Offering also second trimester screening: To maintain this type of screening is necessary in the interests of pregnant women seeking prenatal care only in the second trimester. Quadruple test (AFP, hCG, oestriol, inhibin-A) is unanimously accepted as the best second trimester test for Down's syndrome.
- Requiring the audit of screening professionals and centres: Where screening
 programmes include nuchal translucency measurement, specific training to acquire a
 standardised method of measurement and ongoing quality control are recommended.
- Taking a stance on the role of maternal age as a screening method: In this process, besides the age distribution of pregnant women, the wide public awareness about the increased risk of women aged 35 years or more should be taken into consideration.
- Addressing counselling issues: Counselling issues are especially important in cases of those complex methods where risk is calculated only after the full completion of tests.
- Considering cost-effectiveness: Some authors include the cost of care of people with Down's syndrome in the cost of prenatal screening [45], however the acceptability of this policy is debated as prevention cannot function as an ethically justifiable aim.

In summary, because of the ethical requirements of enhancing reproductive autonomy and considering foetal safety, those methods should be offered that give individual risk assessment, present high sensitivity (85% or more) and low false positive rate (5% or less), and their results are confirmed by large observation studies. Since not only one but some methods can meet the requirements, through screening, local conditions (number of well-trained sonographers and accredited laboratories, financial limitations), and specific needs deriving from gestational age, number of foetuses, previous obstetric history, or wishes to finish the test in the first trimester can be taken into account [90]. To dissipate uncertainty on the use of screening methods, I propose that professional bodies should clearly define what technology can fulfil best the given medical, ethical or economic requirements and that screening professionals should openly disclose pregnant women the reasons on which the use of a particular method is based.

4. Role of comprehensive and personalised information in enhancing parents' reproductive autonomy

When screening professionals disclose the considerations underlying the use of a particular screening method, they support the idea of giving comprehensive information on prenatal Down's syndrome screening that is required by the aim of promoting parents' reproductive autonomy. Detailed information can help women and couples in performing the following tasks: (1) deciding about the participation in screening, (2) understanding the test results and their consequences on the baby's health, and (3) deciding about the course of action to follow after screen positive results. In the accomplishment of these activities, pre-test and post-test information can provide effective support for the majority of parents, but in cases of increased risk, genetic counselling is also required. In this chapter, the factors influencing the provision of pre- and post-test information are examined.

4.1. Pre-test information

Informing the candidates of genetic screening programmes is considered so fundamental that the EuroGentest, a network of excellence funded by the European Union, recommends not implementing a screening programme if comprehensive and well-planned pre-test information and counselling are not guaranteed [91]. The special problems of prenatal Down's syndrome screening, namely, that screen positive results may increase maternal anxiety, may result in risky diagnostic procedures performed on healthy foetuses, and may force women to make reproductive decisions about the continuation or the termination of their pregnancies, justify the demand of providing women detailed information prior to screening. If screening is offered as a routine part of care, or is performed without the consent of pregnant women - both types of conduct neglect the provision of comprehensive information - women and couples do not have the opportunity to prepare for the consequences of screening.

4.1.1. Factors influencing information giving: attitudes of pregnant women and medical professionals to screening

The interpretive ethics approach illuminates that the effectiveness of information giving, meaning, the information is perceived by pregnant women and then used up in their decision-making, requires not only providing detailed information but also adjusting information to the individual needs of women [31]. The interpretive approach also highlights that the presumptions and experiences of health care professionals influence remarkably the patient-professional interaction [35]. Therefore, exploring the attitudes of pregnant women and medical professionals to prenatal Down's syndrome screening seems indispensable for ensuring the success of the information process. After reviewing literature data by the interpretive method, a brief overview of the most frequently mentioned contextual factors has been constructed.

Attitudes of women	Characteristics of attitudes	Communication measures to overcome the negative effects of attitudes
Compliant behaviour	 Behaviour, on that basis, every medical procedure offered by a professional is accepted in order to ensure the baby's health. However, this behaviour does not promote thoughtful decision-making about the acceptance of screening [40] 	 Those aspects of screening should be emphasised that differentiate screening from routine medical procedures. Attention should be drawn to both the advantages and disadvantages of screening.
Beliefs about the aim of screening	 Women believe that the aim of screening is detecting foetal anomalies in general, but it is giving reassurance in their own cases [92]. 	 Emphasising the aim of screening before the beginning of examinations and giving data about the recall rate may help women prepare for both screen negative and screen positive results.
Pursuing non-medical aims	 Some women assess ultrasound screening as a "nice baby watching" and not as a tool to search for abnormalities [93]. 	 Before ultrasound examination, the alternative outcomes of reassurance and of detecting anomalies should be disclosed.
Emotional reactions to screening	 Even the offer of screening can cause maternal anxiety [94,95]. Ultrasound screening can strengthen emotional bond between mothers and foetuses, which turns decision-making about the future of an affected pregnancy troublesome [96]. Screen positive results cause maternal anxiety [97]. 	 Giving all the relevant information prior to screening is a general expectation as in this period, women are not so anxious and can think over the consequences of screening more carefully than after the disclosure of screen positive results.
Lack of knowledge on Down's syndrome	 Women underestimate the prevalence of Down's syndrome, and know little about the impacts of the disorder [98]. 	 Information should be provided not only about the medical aspects but also about, the educational and social impacts of Down's syndrome.
Difficulty in understanding the concept of risk	 Women often find difficult to distinguish screening from diagnosis [99] and to understand the concept of risk calculation [100,101]. 	 Prenatal screening can be compared to other, better known screenings. Visual interpretation can be useful for interpreting the meaning of risk.

Table 4: Women's attitudes influencing information perception on prenatal Down's syndrome screening

Table 5: Professionals' attitudes influencing information giving on prenatal Down's syndrome screening
--

Attitudes of medical professionals	Characteristics of attitudes	Measures to overcome the negative effects of attitudes
Biased attitude to screening	 Some physicians show biased attitude to screening because of their opposition to abortion [39]. 	 Professionals should acknowledge that based on their personal values, they can refuse to perform abortion but cannot refuse to give women information about the availability of screening.
Offering screening as routine	 Screening is offered as routine, no pre-test counselling is provided. This practice is generally justified by lack of time [94,99] 	 Information constitutes an essential part of screening. Time should be guaranteed for giving information.
Uncertainty about the appropriate screening method	 The multitudinous, currently available screening strategies have resulted in confusion among practitioners [82]. 	 Guidelines constructed by professional bodies can help practitioners choose the appropriate method.
Favouring a particular screening technology or strategy	 Screening is offered only for women aged 35 years or more [102,103]. Among practitioners, sometimes, an unjustified insistence on either ultrasonography or biochemistry can be recognised. 	 National screening programmes and private practitioners are expected to revise their screening policy regularly in order to avoid the use of outdated screening methods. Professional guidelines can help this process. The reasons underlying the use of a screening method (medical, economic, others) should be disclosed.
Unbalanced information on lives of people with Down's syndrome	 Counselling may be unduly negative about the likely quality of life for people with Down's syndrome [104,105]. 	 Providing women up-to-date information about the life of people with Down's syndrome is deemed important in facilitating informed choice. A co-operation with parent support groups can help professionals to get reliable information.
Communication difficulties	 Communication difficulties arising from a largely different cultural background of the patient and the professional may compromise the effectiveness of information giving [106]. 	 Not only the technical skills but also the communication skills should be taught to providers of screening tests. Communication training should be involved in their continuous education.

4.1.2. Contents of pre-test information

The acknowledgement of the socially, culturally, and emotionally determined attitudes can assist a carefully planned information process, and can successfully serve the basic idea of interpretive ethics that the content of pre-test information should be directed by the needs of pregnant women and not by the expectations of the professionals [107]. In the following, a guideline is presented that can promote public and private screening services in giving adequate written and verbal information on the following issues [108]:

Addressing the aim of prenatal Down's syndrome screening: In accordance with ethics, the aim of screening should be considered as informing the parents about the chance of having a Down's syndrome pregnancy. The parents' attention should be drawn to the scenario that screening might be followed by decision about the future of the pregnancy; therefore, it is advisable to make thoughtful decision about the participation in screening.

Ensuring respect for parents' autonomy: Pregnant women and their partners should be informed that prenatal testing is voluntary; before screening, pregnant women's informed consent should be obtained. The whole screening process or any steps of it can be refused. Women and couples must not be subjected to pressure to undertake the test, to terminate a pregnancy, or to make decisions in undue haste [109,110].

Description of the screened disorder: Comprehensive and balanced information about the medical, educational and social impacts of Down's syndrome should be given, which includes data about community-based services, early intervention programmes and opportunities for integrated life [111]. In these questions, the experiences of parent support groups can be taken into account. Outdated information, negative stereotypes, or offensive terminology concerning life with Down's syndrome should be excluded.

Practical aspects of screening: Information involves the date of screening, e.g. in what week of pregnancy the test is performed, and screening includes one-step or two-step tests. The method of screening should also be disclosed, e.g. what kind of biochemical and/or ultrasound markers are examined, and what their values are in unaffected and in affected pregnancies. A brief explanation must be given on the procedure of individual risk calculation, and women should be informed about when and how screening results are disclosed. [98,109,112].

Epidemiological data of screening: Using understandable epidemiological terminology and giving comprehensible information on screening performances of tests are difficult, however, are important. These data can influence women's decisions about the uptake of screening and can prevent women from overestimating or underestimating the potentials of screening. Epidemiological information should embrace the frequency of Down's syndrome both in pregnancies and in live births, the differences of screening and diagnosis, the arbitrary nature of cut-off risk, the meaning of screen positive and screen negative results, and the possibility and reasons of false positive and false negative

screening results. On screening performances of tests - including detection rate, recall rate and false negative rate - better to give centre-specific data, if they are available.

Consequences of screening: Deciding about the acceptance of diagnostic tests offered after screen positive results is one of the most significant consequences of screening. Thus, women should get information about the diagnostic methods and their risks, and about the length of time, they should wait to get the result of the diagnosis. Women should also be informed about the availability of genetic counselling where they can get support in the interpretation of screen positive results and in decision-making about prenatal diagnosis or the future of the pregnancy. It should be disclosed that respecting the parents' decisions about the continuation or the termination of an affected pregnancy is ethically required. It is also advisable to mention the psychological impacts of screening, since even the offer of screening can increase maternal anxiety, and screen positive results affect negatively the psychological well-being of women, regardless how the information is presented. Addressing the name of a professional who can give advice in case of anxiety is useful for both screening programmes and private services [107,113-115].

Evaluation of screening: Summarising the advantages and disadvantages of a particular screening test, comparing its screening performance to that of other tests, and revealing the reasons why this particular test is offered can fulfil the expectation of giving balanced information and can facilitate parents' careful decision-making.

Resources to get further information: Offering information leaflets, newspaper articles, and reliable Internet addresses can help women to get further information [39].

In literature, the combination of information leaflets and personal communication is endorsed as the best form of pre-test information [116-118]. A readable, regularly updated information leaflet can be taken home where enough time is ensured to think over the impacts of screening. Personal communication can tailor information to individual needs.

4.2. Post-test information

Post-test information differs from genetic counselling, since the first is provided by a screening professional to every woman participating in prenatal screening, while the second is provided by a specially trained genetic counsellor to only a group of women who are assessed as having a high-risk pregnancy.

4.2.1. Risk presentation

Disclosing risk constitutes one of the most important parts of post-test information, and data suggest that screening results can be more effectively conveyed through personal communication than through phone or letter [98]. In connection to risk communication, the aspects of interpretation should be taken into account, as, for example, the parents of children with Down's syndrome have proposed the use of the word "*chance*" instead of "*risk*", as in their views, the meaning of chance is neutral, however, the meaning of risk is

negative [119]. Another debate addresses the dilemma whether words, numbers, or both should be applied when probability information is disclosed to patients. Concerning the results of prenatal Down's syndrome screening, the most preferred expressions are: screen positive - screen negative, increased risk - decreased risk, or requiring further tests - not requiring further test. When screening results are expressed in numbers, fractions (1/250, 1:250) or percentages (0.4%) are used. Fractions or percentages should be consistently applied as it can be misleading if the screening result is given in the form of fraction and the risk of amniocentesis-related miscarriage is given in the form of percentage [120]. Although many physicians believe that words are easier to process, many others think that numbers may increase awareness of residual risks and may encourage deliberative decision-making [121]. According to an additional professional opinion, numbers alone are not enough; their meaning should be interpreted by words [122]. It is also admitted that information about the arbitrary nature of cut-off level of risk promotes thoughtful decisionmaking, therefore, parent can be given the example that the risk 1:300 counts high in one country but not high in another [123]. The idea of giving balanced information can be served well by framing risk in both terms of loss and gain, e.g. "You have 10% chance of having an affected baby, or you have 90% chance of having an unaffected baby." [124].

4.2.2. Risk perception

The aspects of interpretation appear in risk perception as well, which is determined by more complex factors than only risk presentation. For example, reasoning methods have an effect on risk perception; the same risk, if it is expressed variously as a percentage or a fraction, is understood differently according to whether the patient uses numerical reasoning, e.g. numbers serve as anchoring points, or person reasoning, e.g. numbers function as representatives of persons [125]. Assessing the comprehension of women more frequently may facilitate more effective risk communication. Besides the probability of outcomes, risk perception is also influenced by the value the parents attach to the outcomes and by the opinion the parents hold about the seriousness of the disease. Literature has drawn attention that perceived risk, rather than the communicated risk, predicts pregnant women's medical decisions [121]. Consequently, discussion about risk should be a twoway exchange of information. Simply providing risk information without discussing the pregnant women' circumstances and perceptions does not help make informed choices.

In summary, giving information constitutes an essential part of screening for which time and financial resources should be guaranteed. Because of the essential role that comprehensive information plays in decision-making, an information leaflet should be given to all women prior to screening and communication training should be included in the post-graduate education of screening professionals, where the data of tests and the ways of giving information on risk are taught. Where prenatal screening lacks central coordination, relevant professional organisations can help physicians acquire these skills.

5. Genetic counselling relationship of counsellors and women with an increased chance of having an affected pregnancy

When prenatal screening results refer to an increased chance of having a Down's syndrome pregnancy, or when a pregnant woman is aged 35-37 years or more, or when she had an affected pregnancy previously or has a positive diagnostic result now, genetic counselling is offered to help her make informed decision. Over the last decades, the notion of non-directiveness has governed the ideal genetic counselling relationship of counsellors and clients. In the sense of non-directiveness, genetic counsellors are expected to give "objective", value-neutral information on the genetic risk, the genetic disorder, and the available screening, diagnostic and treatment possibilities [126-128], and they are also expected to refrain from offering advice in value-laden problems, e.g. pregnancy termination, acceptance of diagnostic procedures carrying the risk of pregnancy loss [129]. However, recently, studies have highlighted that it is impossible to provide neutral information, since genetic facts may not be insulated from social, professional, and personal values [130-132]. Additionally, experience with genetic counselling has revealed that an impartial communication style often hinders counselles in gaining adequate information and in perceiving the problem [133-135].

As these new ideas have illuminated that the individual value orientations of counsellors exert an indispensable influence over the course of counselling, and that without the fulfilment of counsellees' expectations, the counselling process may prove to be useless, I thought demanding to examine the everyday practice of genetic counselling in Hungary. Thus, by an ethical analysis of the relevant literature, the views of counsellors on the goal of genetic consultation were studied, and by an empirical research, the genetic counselling expectations of counsellees were explored [36]. The results of these studies were expected to answer the questions that besides non-directive genetic counselling, what kind of methods were practiced by counsellors, and what kind of counselling style could fulfil the expectations of counsellees.

5.1. Views of counsellors on the goal of reproductive genetic counselling

Although, in Hungary, the professional body of clinical geneticists has given an official statement on the goal of genetic counselling [136], other definitions have also survived that have been constructed since the 1970s, when a wider spread of these services began.

5.1.1. Preventing diseases—an information guidance approach

The approach that dominated the 1970s and 1980s and has remained recognisable even in today's counselling practice was introduced by Endre Czeizel, who defined the goal of genetic counselling as to prevent severe diseases and to promote the birth of healthy children in the interests of families and society [137]. To achieve this aim, the so-called information guidance approach was applied; counsellors made unsolicited recommendations to parents on reproductive decisions, e.g. to undertake a pregnancy or to refrain from it because of the high genetic risk to the foetus [138]. The application of the nondirective counselling method was rejected, since counsellors believed that it did not fit the Hungarian medical context. They thought that clients needed direct advice on what to do. Although accepting the offered solution was not mandatory [139], the information guidance approach was criticised on international forums for its features of violating the reproductive autonomy of the parents. Owing to the criticism, the overt support of this approach became inconvenient by the second half of the 1980s, nevertheless, sometimes reports have been heard even today about counsellors giving selected information and recommending the prevention of birth defects without the clients' request for advice.

5.1.2. Preventing diseases and respecting reproductive autonomy—a transitory approach

The next approach, invented in the early 1990s and having been favoured from that time, supports the adoption of the non-directive method. Zoltán Papp, the main advocate of this view, has emphasised that in a non-directive counselling relationship, the counsellor's tasks include providing information and advice, but do not involve decision-making [140]. By its moral standpoint, that the right to decide about the future of a pregnancy belongs solely to the parents, this view has contributed to the abandonment of recommending parents a particular course of action. The commitment to the respect for the parents' reproductive liberty, however, has not been reflected in the definition concerning the goal of genetic counselling, since Z. Papp has assumed that the aim of counselling is to ensure the birth of a healthy child for families at high genetic risk [141]. Nonetheless, this transitory view of combining the goal of respecting the autonomy of counsellees with the goal of disease prevention involves an essential contradiction. While the promotion of the autonomous choice of counsellees requires the provision of balanced information, the goal of prevention constrains parents' free choice as the information disclosed is permeated with the counsellor's personal view about the importance of preventing diseases. The focus on prevention limits the counselling interaction as well, since it does not encourage the recognition of the parents' needs differing from disease prevention, such as understanding probability information, or finding coping strategies for the situation of being at risk.

5.1.3. Enhancing the autonomous choice of parents—an informative approach

From the beginning of the 1990s, another type of genetic counselling practice has also been prevalent in the country, the goal and method of which unambiguously correspond to the ethical norms of non-directiveness. The proponents of this type of approach, e.g. Olga Török, Csaba Papp, and Ernő Tóth-Pál, have considered reproductive genetic counselling as being fundamentally a communication process involving informing and educating parents to make family planning decisions [53,142]. They have omitted the prevention of diseases from the goal of genetic consultation, and have restored the original meaning of non-directiveness by demanding from the counsellors not only to allow parents to make choices, but also to ensure the impartiality of information on which parents base their decision. This approach has also tried to restrict the possibility of imposing the values of the counsellors on the clients; thus, counsellors have been expected to abstain from proposing a solution, but, on exceptional occasions, they have been allowed to inform clients about what the majority of parents decided in the same situation [143].

5.1.4. Enhancing the careful deliberation of parents—an interpretive approach

In recent years, a concept has been espoused by me and a colleague [144] that the goal of genetic counselling should be shifted from giving impartial information to the promotion of the careful deliberation of counsellees. This aim takes into account the philosophical consensus on the impossibility of value neutrality; and in order to help counsellees reach well-informed and well-considered decisions, it demands from the counsellor not only to give counsellees detailed medical information but also to explore their values with considerable effects on their decision [145,146]. To accomplish this duty, the so-called interpretive counselling method has been proposed, which provides a useful aid in identifying the value orientations of the counsellor, the counsellee, and the community that are relevant in the counsellor and the counsellee can discuss facts and value-laden problems as well, and finally, they can find a solution that is acceptable to the counsellee. Similar to the non-directive view, the interpretive counselling approach emphasises that forcing a particular decision on the counsellee is impermissible; thus, the non-prescriptive communication style remains the basic feature of genetic consultation.

5.2. Genetic counselling expectations of counsellees

After a review of the genetic counsellors' views, the counsellees' expectations were studied and to gain data on this issue, pregnant women attending the genetic counselling clinic in Szeged, Hungary between September and December 2006 were asked to answer a questionnaire containing 21 items. The study was approved by the institutional ethics committee. Of the 181 eligible participants 170 responded (response rate 94%), and prior to counselling, the following data were collected (Table 6):

	n	(%)		n	(%)
Age – 19-24 years – 25-29 years – 30-34 years	9 24 46	(5) (14) (27)	Previous pregnancies – 0 – 1 – 2 or more	50 57 63	(29) (34) (37)
 35-39 years 40 years and above Residence 	76 15	(45) (9)	Previous counselling experience – Yes – No	47 123	(28) (72)
VillageSmall townCity	43 77 49	(25) (46) (29)	Reasons for counselling – Maternal age ≥35 years – Positive screening test – Previous genetic anomaly	89 23 16	(53) (14) (9)
Education – Primary school – Secondary school – College/university	24 89 55	(14) (53) (33)	 Drug or environmental exposure Participants of counselling Pregnant woman alone Pregnant woman with partner Pregnant woman with family member 	41 78 75 17	(24) (46) (44) (10)

Table 6: Sociodemographic and health-related characteristics of the respondents (n = 170)*

* Numbers do not all sum to 170 because not all respondents answered all the questions.

Pre-counselling, the counsellees' expectations on medical information, psychological support, types of decision-making, and possible decisional aids of knowing the decisions of other parents and the opinion of the counsellor were also inquired. Post counselling, the respondents were asked to evaluate the effect of actual genetic counselling from the viewpoints of comprehensiveness of information, the calming effect of psychological support, the types of their actual decision, and their satisfaction with the overall process of counselling. Statistical analysis was performed by the Statistical Package for Social Sciences, version 15.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). The Chi-squared test was used to search the correlations of expectations, the fulfilment of expectations, the actual decision-making, and the satisfaction with the overall process of the respondents and with one and other. $P \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

5.2.1. Pre-counselling expectations of counsellees

Prior to counselling, the majority of women wished to receive detailed and new information, to get psychological support, and to know the counsellor's opinion (Table 7).

•	•	
Expectations	Counsellees n=170	
	n	(%)
Detailed information	167	(98)
New information	140	(82)
Psychological support	115	(68)
To know the decisions of other parents	77	(45)
To know the counsellor's opinion	119	(70)
Shared decision-making	106	(62)
Independent decision-making	56	(30)
Counsellor's decision-making	10	(6)

Table 7: Counsellees' expectations on genetic counselling

Wishing to know the counsellor's opinion presented a direct connection with the reason for counselling (p = 0.051), with education (p = 0.032) and with the number of previous pregnancies (p = 0.019), since women who had screen positive results, or who were

pregnant with their first baby, or who had a college or university degree expected more frequently the counsellor's advice than the others. Answers concerning the expected type of decision-making showed that 62% of the counsellees intended to rely on the counsellor's support and wanted to reach a shared decision, 6% expected the counsellor to make the decision on their behalf, and 30% insisted on an independent decision. Of the sociodemographic variables, only education presented a statistically significant relationship with the expected type of decision-making (p = 0.026). Pregnant women with college or university degrees expected a shared decision, while respondents with a lower level of education expected an independent decision more frequently than the others.

5.2.2. Impacts of expectations and their fulfilment on actual decision-making

According to the reports of the counsellees, 45% of the consultations resulted in shared decisions, 35% in independent decisions, and no decision was reached in 20% of the cases (Table 8). In the study, women did not report the counsellor's decision-making.

	Total		decisi	ared on was ade	decis	endent ion was ade		ecision made	
	n=	170		=76		=60	n	=34	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	p value
Education – Primary school – Secondary school – College/university	24* 89 55	(14) (53) (33)	12* 38 25	(16) (51) (33)	10* 36 13	(17) (61) (22)	2 15 17	(6) (44) (50)	0.072
Expected type of decision-making – Shared – Independent – Counsellor's – Uncertain	106 51 10 3	(62) (30) (6) (2)	61 6 7 2	(80) (8) (9) (3)	22 36 1 1	(36) (60) (2) (2)	23 9 2 0	(68) (26) (6) (0)	<0.001
Expecting to know other parents' decision	77	(45)	33	(43)	26	(43)	18	(53)	0.606
Expecting to know the counsellor's opinion	119	(70)	56	(74)	37	(62)	26	(76)	0.263
Unanswered questions have remained	9	(5)	2	(3)	2	(3)	5	(15)	0.024
Calming affect of consultation	110	(64)	56	(74)	38	(63)	16	(47)	0.025
Overall satisfaction with counselling	160	(94)	72	(95)	57	(95)	31	(91)	0.730

Table 8: Evaluation of actual of	decision-making
----------------------------------	-----------------

* Numbers in the column do not sum to the total because not all respondents answered the question about education.

Expectations on the type of decision-making strongly affected the actual shared or independent decisions, as 80% and 60% of them respectively followed the expected type. Wishes associated with the mode of decision-making, however, did not influence the success of resolution, since the proportion of consultations that failed to agree on a decision was almost the same for each expected type of decision-making, and varied between 18 and 22%. As the possibility of getting to know the other parents' decisions and the counsellor's opinion was hypothetical, we were able to examine the impacts of these expectations, but not those of their fulfilment on decision-making. Data showed that the proportion of women wanting to know the preferences of other parents and of the

counsellor was greater in the group that did not reach a decision than in the other groups, though this difference was not significant statistically.

The evaluation of actual genetic counselling has explored that statistically significant correlations were found between the satisfaction with information and psychological support, and the result of the decision-making process (Table 8). According to the analysis, in the group with unsuccessful resolution, the proportion of women who had unanswered questions was higher, and the proportion of those who felt the calming effect of genetic counselling was lower than in the groups with successful resolution. Education affected with borderline significance the type and success of the actual decision. Among women with a college or university degree, the frequency of independent decisions was lower, and the frequency of not reaching a decision at all was higher than among women with a lower level of education. The satisfaction with the overall process of the consultation was high, independent of the type and success of resolution. Only the failure to answer all the counsellee's questions correlated significantly with the overall satisfaction (p = 0.008), and had a negative effect on it.

5.2.3. Evaluating the expectations of counsellees and comparing them with the views of counsellors

Similar to studies conducted in Western countries, in our study the respondents have perceived the tasks of genetic consultations as not only to give comprehensive information, but also to provide psychological support and to facilitate decision-making [147,148]. Of the counselling types, the information guidance, the transitory, and the informative approaches have not received wide support. The counsellor's decision-making, the essence of the information guidance approach, was almost unanimously rejected (92%), and the majority of women intended to take part in the resolution process. Contrary to the transitory view, counsellees wanted more help than just information about the options of preventing diseases, e.g. they expected psychological support (68%). The appropriateness of non-directive counselling, the guiding idea of the informative approach, was also challenged, since the counsellees' successful decision-making required a type of consultation in which information and psychological support were tailored to the counsellees' individual needs, as in opposite cases the decision-making was postponed.

Compared with a study conducted in the UK in which 30% of counsellees expected help in making decisions [149], in our study this ratio was 68%. The extensive need for the counsellor's involvement in the decision-making has illuminated the women's uncertainty about the process of resolution, behind which the lack of knowledge or the wish to share

the responsibility of decision-making with the counsellor may be found [150]. However, in Hungary the lack of deep traditions concerning the autonomous decision-making of patients has also played an important role in the clients' behaviour of refraining from independent decision-making. Deriving from this circumstance, in our country the role of the counsellor in the independent and well-considered decision-making of the counsellee is more essential than in countries with old democratic traditions. The importance of the counsellor's activity in the process of resolution has been reflected in the data reporting that counsellees were apt to modify their preconception, and that they could even reach an independent decision as a result of the consultation (40% of the independent decisions were made in this way). The proportion of highly educated women expecting and making shared decisions reassured the findings of Wertz and Sorenson [151], which demonstrated that counsellees with higher education reported more frequently the counsellor's influence on their decision than clients with lower education. Data suggest that better educated women appreciate highly the counsellor's professional knowledge and can better utilise the information provided them. However, according to our research, the supposedly greater knowledge led to greater uncertainty as well, since the ratio of highly educated women reaching no decision was above that of groups with lower education.

5.2.4. Characteristics of genetic counselling meeting the expectations of counsellees

The results of the study have given support to the kind of counselling method that adjusts professional help to the individual needs of the counsellees, allows the counsellor to play an active role in the course of decision-making, and excludes the dominance of the counsellor. Of the approaches promoted by genetic professionals, the interpretive counselling approach promises fulfilment of these requirements. As this method requires the counsellor to understand the counsellee's particular situation, the counsellee's individual wishes can be recognised and responded to, which could be especially useful for those women who remained uncertain about the decision after the consultation. The dialogical relationship, the main characteristic of the interpretive method, gives the counsellor the opportunity to distinguish cases in which the independent decision of the counsellee is a realistic option from those in which more help is necessary and shared decision-making should be aimed for. The application of the interpretive method allows the counsellor to disclose her opinion as well, which was expected by the majority of the respondents. This action would not encourage the revival of paternalism, since, in the interpretive counselling relationship, the values of the participating parties are explored and openly discussed, which can serve as a guarantee of finding a proposal that corresponds with the values of the counsellee and not with those of the counsellor.

6. Method of interpretive genetic counselling promoting the careful decision-making of counsellees

The results of our study on the counsellees' expectations have strengthened the views of those who have demanded the implementation of new consultation methods that differ from the non-directive approach. It has also been revealed that counsellors should gain understanding about the situation of counsellees in order to help them reach well-informed and well-considered decision. As in human understanding, besides psychological rules, philosophical characteristics play an essential role, I contend that the theory of interpretation, being explicated by Hans-Georg Gadamer in his book, Truth and Method, offers physicians an aid to reach the true understanding of counsellees and to facilitate their decision [33]. Since V. Árnason systematised the Gadamerian concept according to the aspects of the patient-professional interaction, his views were used when I and a colleague were elaborating the methodological framework of interpretive genetic counselling [35], which could assist counsellors to incorporate the interpretative approach into their practice.

6.1. The Gadamerian four-openness model of interpretation

Summarising Gadamer's theory on interpretation, Árnason has asserted that during dialogues four aspects of openness are necessary to understand the other and to take seriously her claims, such as openness to oneself, openness to the other, openness to the subject matter, and openness to tradition [33,35].

Openness to oneself: In Gadamer's view, during the process of understanding we all use our prejudgements and anticipations to project some meaning to the text, to the situation or to the person as a whole. These various cultural, personal or theoretical presuppositions constitute our horizons, without which any human understanding would not be possible. Openness to oneself requires the acknowledgement of these prejudices, and by this type of openness, dogmatic thinking may be escaped.

Openness to the other: This phenomenon means the listening to the other person and the perception of her difference. Gadamer has pointed out that the method of objective observation does not help us to recognise the differences of the other, since, if we remain emotionally unaffected, we can grasp only the typical features of the other person and we fail to take into consideration her subjectivity. It also does not lead to true understanding but only to the domination of the interpreter's perspective if the interpreter believes that she understands the other person better than the other understands herself. Gadamer has asserted that, as we are not able to fully comprehend the other, the best an understanding person can do is to think with the other and to undergo the situation with her. In dialogues, the interpreter puts at risk her prejudices and is willing to accept the opinion of the other.

Openness to the subject matter: This idea reveals that during open dialogues, partners let themselves be conducted by the subject matter of the conversation and their dialogue is exclusively governed by the dialectic of questions and answers concerning the topic. Gadamer has drawn our attention to the role of questions in the process of understanding, stating that the act of asking questions expresses both the interpreter's awareness of the limitation of her perspective and her real interest in the opinion of the other. This attitude can generate the "fusion of horizons", and by the end of the conversation, partners can form an agreement on the situation, differing from the prejudgements of both of them.

Openness to tradition: This idea contains the notion that we should be conscious of our historical affectedness, which indicates that past traditions are built into present ones, so it is impossible for us to escape our traditions. We should know that in the course of interpretation, the meaning we project to the situation is directly related to our traditions. In Gadamer's view, tradition functions as a relevant authority, since it has preserved the wisdom of subsequent generations, and by listening to tradition, we can reach authentic understanding. In dialogue with the other person, the awareness of our tradition helps us to show openness to the tradition the other represents.

6.2. Process of interpretation in reproductive genetic counselling

In the following, the four-openness model of interpretation is applied to the process of genetic counselling, where both the counsellor and the counsellee influence each other, thus, they should understand the other person and the other's role in the interaction [27]. Actually, double interpretation is performed; the counsellor interprets the counsellee, and the counsellee interprets the counsellor. An interpretation directed by the four-openness model yields the advantage of considering the four most important factors that affect the course of genetic counselling, i.e. the counsellor, the counsellee, the genetic risk or disease, and the contextual circumstances. Since, in the counselling relationship, the counsellor bears greater responsibility for the success of the consultation than the counsellee, the counsellor is expected to facilitate the counsellee's interpretation process as well [28].

6.2.1. Openness to the counsellor

In genetic counselling, the openness to oneself demands the self-understanding of the genetic counsellor whose influence on the counsellee cannot be ignored. Thus, the counsellor has to examine whether she accepts the promotion of the counsellees' interest as the goal of her activity, and if she interprets her professional task as to discuss moral, social, and emotional questions besides the medical ones [152]. The counsellor should make clear for herself her view about the severity of the disease and the quality of life affected by the disorder. These value judgements are unavoidably reflected in the counsellor's interpretation of genetic risk and in the description of the disease, so they may modify the counsellee's perception of the problem. The counsellor has to admit her preliminary concept about the course of action to be followed by the counsellee as this preconception could cause difficulties if the counsellee's idea differs from it. The counsellor's communication style is also worthy of self-examination, since she is expected to have an ability to generate an atmosphere where open communication can occur. This solid self-knowledge makes possible that when the counsellee asks for advice, the counsellor can explore the social, religious, and emotional backgrounds on which her solution is based. By disclosing explicitly her value orientation, the counsellor assists the counsellee's interpretation process, in which the counsellor is the other person whom the counsellee has to understand. On the basis of this transparency, women and couples can compare the counsellor's value system to their own ones, and in accordance with this assessment, they can determine if they accept or refuse the counsellor's advice [153].

6.2.2. Openness to the counsellee

The openness to the counsellee, the recognition of her difference is paramount in genetic counselling, because it determines the form of information and help. By showing openness to the counsellee, the counsellor does not remain untouched by her life problem, but she shares the troubles and difficulties the counsellee feels during the perception of the genetic information and in the decision-making process. The willingness of thinking with the counsellee gives authority to the counsellor to discuss questions belonging to the field of privacy. The counsellor needs to gain a notion about the vocabulary the other understands and the reasoning method she uses. Relying upon this knowledge, the counsellor has to adjust her communication style to that of the counselleee as the framing of information and the mode of reasoning affect the understanding of the situation of being at risk [154]. The counsellor explores the counsellee's knowledge on the given disease and her perception about the severity of it. The counsellor gets impressions about how firm or vague the value system of the counsellee is, and how much help is necessary in its clarification. As, in the majority of cases, the parents visit the genetic counsellor together, the counsellor should involve both of them in the course of counselling. The counsellor pays attention to the dynamics of the couple's relationship, since the couple's disagreement or their responsibilities to other children have a definitive effect on the decision. Emotions can also come to the surface, and the counsellor can assess the level of anxiety and its role in the process of understanding, which may indicate demand for psychological support [155]. The issues posed by the counsellor contribute not only to the counsellor's effort to understand the patient, which is the basis for providing effective support, but also to the self-understanding of the counsellee, which is a pre-condition of careful decision making.

6.2.3. Openness to the disease and its impacts

In reproductive genetic counselling, the openness to the subject matter, i.e. to the genetic risk or disease, means that each life situation is unique, each parent reacts specially to the situation of having a high-risk pregnancy, so the counsellor should go through the interpretation process with each counsellee, even though the genetic disorder is the same. The counsellor presents the medical problem and the counsellee's inquiry forces the counsellor to personalise the medical information to the counsellee's needs. The counsellee's questions are not restricted to the factual nature of the disorder but extend to value-laden problems too. For example, the counsellee would like to know the counsellor's knowledge about life with a disabled baby or the counsellor's choice if she were in the other's place. The intention to enhance the counsellee's deliberation allows the counsellor to introduce unsolicited information and to challenge poorly reasoned choices [156]. This professional behaviour does not violate counsellees' autonomy but promotes cautious deliberation by drawing attention to unexplored problems. By the end of the open dialogue, the counsellee has completed her understanding with the counsellor's wider knowledge about the medical aspects of the disorder, and the counsellor has enriched her understanding about the disease with the counsellee's experience, which may be used as a starting point to understand other counsellees [32]. The common understanding of the situation enables the partners to find a solution together that is acceptable for the counsellee [157].

6.2.4. Openness to the cultural and social circumstances

During open dialogues, the counsellee and the counsellor open up together the wider social and cultural contexts in which reproductive autonomy has got its meaning. The collective opinion on the acceptance of prenatal tests, on the termination of pregnancy, on living with disability, and on the parental responsibilities concerning the upbringing of a severely disabled child indicates to the parents the ways of conduct the community could accept. In Hungary, for example, the public opinion supports the termination of an affected pregnancy, honours families caring for children with Down's syndrome, but rejects the

behaviour of the parents who abandon their disabled children and leave their care to statefinanced institutions. The social or familial expectations may be assessed as constraints on autonomy—although, only if autonomy is perceived as absolute freedom—but their acknowledgement helps parents prepare for unpleasant reactions and find coping strategies if they decide against the public opinion. In connection to medical genetics, the respect for traditions calls attention to the importance of two social value commitments, the rejection of eugenics and the respect for reproductive autonomy [158], which demand that the genetic counsellor should abstain from determining the content of the decision.

6.3. Advantages and disadvantages of interpretive genetic counselling

An advantage of interpretative genetic counselling appears in the feature that while the prevailing non-directive approach favours impartial information disclosure, the interpretive method, based on the true understanding of counsellees, offers the possibility of tailoring information to the real needs of counsellees. This new method also accepts that the counsellees' expectations go beyond the limits of getting information and believes that the facilitation of counsellees' decision-making and the provision of psychological support are essential parts of genetic counselling. By exploring the importance of the awareness of the counsellor's prejudices and values, the interpretive approach presents advantages to those initiations as well that intend to support the patient's deliberation by shared decisionmaking, however, fail to examine the effect of the physician's perspective on that activity [159].

The possibility that the counsellor's involvement in the decision-making might encourage the revival of paternalism means a disadvantage for the interpretive approach. However, if clear distinctions are made between the interpretive method and medical paternalism, the respect for the reproductive liberty of counsellees and the active support of their decision-making could be simultaneously ensured. The Gadamerian thought implies the warnings that the physician cannot surely know what the patient's perception about her best interest is, and therefore, it is inadmissible to force a solution on the patient. Regarding the positive features of the interpretive approach, I argue that the communication training of genetic counsellors should be completed with the discussion of the role of interpretation in the counselling interaction. Although interpretation is a genuine intellectual activity, which cannot be adequately performed by following a simplified algorithm, I'm convinced that the four-openness model of interpretation can work as a useful guideline for counsellors to engage in open dialogues with counsellees and to understand them.

7. Ethical importance of discussing publicly the pre- and postnatal issues of Down's syndrome

In our country, where, despite the fact that different screening methods are offered to pregnant women by university clinics and by other public or private health care institutions [160-168], a nationally organised prenatal Down's syndrome screening programme has not yet been introduced, discussing publicly the issues of prenatal screening is much more demanding than in countries with well-organised screening programmes. In those countries where prenatal Down's syndrome screening looks back to a three-decade long history, professionals of medical genetics have recognised that they should take responsibility for both the women who participate in screening and the patients who were born with the screened disorder [42]. In their views, this responsibility involves the acknowledgement of those social and ethical implications that are induced by the implementation of prenatal genetic screening and that influence the self-esteem and social status of individuals with disability. In Hungary, in the lack of a national prenatal screening policy on Down's syndrome, the fulfilment of these tasks has remained to relevant scientific conferences, of which the most regularly held and the most comprehensive is the Down Syndrome Symposium of Szeged, organised by the local university's Department of Medical Genetics. From its beginning in 1998, the Symposium has provided a nationwide forum for medical and non-medical professionals, for experts of prenatal and postnatal care, and for the parents having children with Down's syndrome to present their activities and to acquire knowledge on the activities of the other parties (Table 9). In this chapter, the ethical impacts of the Symposium are examined from the viewpoints of prenatal screening and postnatal care.

Topics									
	1st symp.	2nd symp.	3rd symp.	4th symp.	5th symp.	6th symp.	7th symp.	Total n (%)	
	Symp.		(70)						
1 Prenatal screening for DS	8	3	3	6	3	5	9	37	(31)
2 Biomedical description of DS	6	1	1	4	1	2	-	15	(13)
3 Ethical issues	3	3	2	1	2	2	1	14	(12)
4 Children's early intervention, education	2	2	3	1	2	2	-	12	(10)
5 Postnatal medical problems	3	1	2	1	2	1	1	11) (9)
6 Parent support groups' activities	3	2	3	-	-	-	1	8	(7)
7 Genetic diagnostic methods of DS	2	2	-	-	2	-	1	7	(6)
8 Epidemiology of DS	2	-	1	2	1	-	1	7	(6)
9 Self-reports of parents, of adults with DS	2	1	-	3	-	-	1	7	(6)

Table 9: Thematic division of presentations performed at Down Syndrome Symposiums of Szeged, 1998-2008

DS = Down's syndrome

7.1. Impacts of public discourse on prenatal Down's syndrome screening

The topics of prenatal screening and diagnosis were extensively represented in the programmes of the subsequent symposiums (Table 9), which was owed to the professional orientations of the organisers and to the current state of prenatal Down's syndrome screening in Hungary, which was aimed to be modified by the contributions of the screening professionals attending the meetings.

7.1.1. Gaining public support for the introduction of a formal prenatal Down's syndrome screening programme

One of the most significant issues where prenatal screening professionals have needed the support of health care policy makers and the wide public refers to the introduction of a universal prenatal Down's syndrome screening programme. At the Symposium, the need to change the official screening concept, which was developed in the 1980s and has included only the offer of amniocentesis for pregnant women aged 35 years or more, was justified by the reason that a scientifically outdated and ethically unjust screening policy should be stopped [43,44]. It was contended that only a formal screening programme could ensure the provision of screening to every pregnant woman, which was required by epidemiological data showing that in Hungary, between 2000-2004, among women giving birth to a Down's syndrome baby, the proportion of those being younger than 35 years was around 60% [11]. Universal screening could also fulfil the requirement of justice by providing equal access of care for those women, who, because of their lower education and social status, could hardly access to prenatal screening. Practitioners also warned that for the introduction of a prenatal screening programme, a wide range of conditions should be guaranteed, e.g. technical equipments for screening and diagnosis; software programmes for risk calculation; training for practitioners; availability of genetic counselling, chorion villus sampling, amniocentesis, and pregnancy termination; and appropriate budget to finance the programme. Besides urging the implementation of a national screening programme, the Symposium has also intended to function as a postgraduate training that informs practitioners about the latest screening technologies and about the ethical, psychological, and communication implications of prenatal Down's syndrome screening, which should be addressed by a formal screening programme as well.

Obviously, Down Syndrome Symposium has not been the only forum supporting the change of the official screening concept. For instance, in 2004, the College of Clinical Geneticists recommended performing 11-13 weeks ultrasound scan as a part of prenatal Down's syndrome screening protocol, and offered maintaining the practice of second trimester ultrasound scan as well [12]. This measure has increased the spread of first trimester nuchal translucency screening, although, with significant regional differences [11]. Therefore, introducing a well-organised, national screening programme has remained a prominent task of health care policy, since by this programme, the use of outdated screening methods can be avoided, every pregnant woman can access to screening, and ethical, psychological and communication issues can be adequately addressed.

7.1.2. Building social consensus on the application of prenatal screening

Discussing the topics of prenatal screening before an audience that involved parents, teachers, and physicians caring for children with Down's syndrome might seem controversial, however, the vivid ethical debate emerging on the goal of prenatal screening among participants with different expertise and interest showed the benefit of the common forum. Eventually, in the lack of a national screening policy, the task of setting off a social debate on the application of Down's syndrome screening was undertook by the Symposium. Including the public in the discussion of the ethical and social impacts of medical genetics is internationally encouraged [169], and this process is especially important in Hungary, where the tradition of debating health care issues publicly is young. Since many professionals confronted with the ethical and social issues of prenatal screening only at the Symposium, the forum has played a pivotal role in the acknowledgement of these contentious topics.

Through the series of debates, some elements of a consensus on the implementation of prenatal Down's syndrome screening were outlined. The parents' sharp criticism on prevention as the aim of screening revealed that during the application of prenatal screening, not only the interests of pregnant women wanting to avoid the birth of a disabled child should be taken into consideration but also the interests and sensitivity of people living with disability [170]. The notes of the parents and paediatricians reminded screening professionals that because of their social responsibility towards disabled people, they should abstain from justifying screening by its potentials for decreasing the prevalence of Down's syndrome or for sparing finances when its cost is compared with the cost of care of disabled patients. The right of parents for using prenatal screening technologies has been accepted even by families having children with Down's syndrome [171]. However, the parents have expressed their wishes about using a language in public discourse that lacks discriminatory meaning against disabled people and does not include the assumption that the birth of a child with Down's syndrome constitutes a tragedy.

The personal experience that practitioners gained at the meetings played a decisive role in the modification of their opinions on some ethical questions. For example, a growing number of physicians have accepted that giving information about the genetic risk of the foetus should be considered as the aim of screening. Even though the aim of screening has remained a matter of debate, the initiation of the sixth symposium about omitting the phrase of prevention from public communication of prenatal screening issues gained wide support among providers of prenatal screening [172].

7.2. Impacts of public discourse on postnatal care for people with Down's syndrome

By including the discussion of the medical, educational, and social questions of postnatal care of individuals with Down's syndrome in the programme of the Symposium, the organisers have expressed the notion that the provision of prenatal screening and the improvement of the quality of life of people with disability are equally fundamental. Emphasising the importance of improved care and social inclusion of people with Down's syndrome has of ethical importance as prenatal screening is frequently criticised for its features of strengthening negative attitudes towards disabled people and jeopardising the results of the disability rights movement [16]. Inviting paediatricians, public nurses, teachers, therapists, parents and adults with Down's syndrome to present the issues of postnatal care can convey the message that screening professionals are aware of the possible negative impacts of prenatal screening and they want to avert them.

7.2.1. Increasing public awareness about lives of people with Down's syndrome

Because of the scope of the audience, which was much wider than that of a traditional conference discussing separately the pre- and postnatal issues, the Symposium has fulfilled a special function in the increase of the community's awareness about the dayto-day lives of people with Down's syndrome. Giving a realistic account on this issue is paramount, as the live of people with Down's syndrome is hardly known by the wide public, and even by biomedical professionals who meet disabled people only in the medical setting [173]. Stemming from these reasons, prenatal screening professionals especially welcomed the lectures presenting the lived experience of people with disability as they could get first-hand information on the recent prospect of disabled people about which they rarely had any practical experience. Nonetheless, being well-informed about the educational and social opportunities provided for disabled people belongs to the professional requirements of screening practitioners, since they are expected to give pregnant women balanced information on Down's syndrome. By making medical professionals aware of the non-medical characteristics of Down's syndrome and of the support services available to disabled people, the Symposium has helped physicians to avoid giving parents biased information, which focuses mainly on the medical problems.

At the meetings, the audience recognised with surprise how well-organised and strong the parent self-support groups were in Hungary, and how wide range of services were offered by them to promote families having a disabled child to control their lives. The capability of many people with Down's syndrome to lead an assisted independent life and the parents' efforts for ensuring this kind of life for their children were almost unknown by the majority of the participant. The importance of changing the attitude of the public towards disabled people was illuminated by the experiences of the parents, which revealed that despite to legal guarantees, to find a supportive school remained difficult and disabled people had hardships in getting jobs after school years [174-176]. Although, for lay participants performing a lecture at a scientific meeting means a considerable challenge, their regular contributions have proved indispensable in reducing negative attitude towards disabled people and in modifying stereotypes associated with disability.

7.2.2. Improving the quality of life of people with Down's syndrome

Besides giving forum to relevant lectures, the Symposium also supported the improvement of the lives of people with Down's syndrome by giving opportunity for the parents and medical professionals to make contact and develop co-operation. The parents grasped this chance and addressed some fields where the two parties could mutually help each other. One of them referred to the issue of disclosing information about the affectedness of a newborn baby, and in order to prevent inappropriate practices, the parent support groups offered their help for obstetricians to develop a method of non-delayed, emphatic, and detailed information giving. The proposal was embraced and as a first step, a survey was conducted about the parents' expectations on information by the National Institute of Epidemiology in order to help obstetricians to construct protocols on informing parents about the birth of a disabled child [177]. Another occasion for co-operation emerged in the field of psychological support of new parents, and obstetric units were requested to make the information available that families could get support from fellow parents if they asked for it. The parents initiated the implementation of Down's syndrome clinics as well, since this outpatient care had been available only in the capital, and by the collaboration of paediatricians, a new clinic was established in the Department of Paediatrics, University of Szeged [178]. The familial climate of the Symposium, which was in great part generated by the parents who were accompanied by their children, promoted the frank dialogue and the co-operation of professional and lay participants.

The ten-year long history of Down Syndrome Symposium of Szeged has shown that conferences discussing the pre- and postnatal aspects jointly can reconcile the claims of antenatal screening and the interests of people with disability. These meetings offer the chance to preserve important social and ethical values, e.g. justice, respect for reproductive autonomy, equal moral value of disabled people. Considering the implementation of this type of symposium would be especially useful in those countries where the introduction of a prenatal Down's syndrome screening programme is in preparation.

8. Conclusions

In Hungary, the study of prenatal Down's syndrome screening has represented the first example of a practice where a medical ethicist was deliberately involved in the work of a medical department in order to explore the ethical issues of this procedure. For me, as a medical ethicist, this co-operation offered a unique opportunity to combine medical ethics theories and the screening experiences of professionals and pregnant women. Using this approach, the following new results have been yielded by the PhD thesis:

1) Ethical acceptability of prenatal Down's syndrome screening: In the Thesis, I have challenged the popular idea that the goal of prenatal Down's syndrome screening is disease prevention. I have asserted that this goal violates essential ethical norms, i.e. interferes with the reproductive autonomy of parents and includes eugenic and discriminatory hints against people with disability. I have contended that this medical procedure can be accepted on ethical grounds only if its goal is defined as enhancing the reproductive autonomy of parents and if the voluntary participation of women is ensured.

2) Implications of an ethically justifiable aim on medical practice: I have stated that the goal of enhancing reproductive autonomy has an effect on the overall process of screening, especially on the applied screening technology, patient information, doctor-patient relationship, and method of genetic counselling.

Screening methods: On this issue, I have asserted that the great number of methods, concerns about reliability of data on efficacy of tests, changes of professional attitudes to ultrasound scan, wider spread of first trimester policies, and uncertainty about the role of maternal age in screening have led to confusion among practitioners and pregnant women. I have contended that the confusion on screening technology would be dissipated by professional guidelines, which have to include some basic requirements of tests, such as individual risk assessment, high sensitivity (85% or more), and low false positive rate (5% or less). Since not only one but some methods can meet these expectations, other needs deriving from specific medical, ethical or economic considerations can also be satisfied. Thus, I have proposed that professionals should clearly define what technology could fulfil best the given needs and these data should be disclosed to pregnant women.

Information: I have emphasised that giving women pre- and post-test information should be considered an inherent part of screening. As, in my view, not only detailed but also personalised information is necessary to facilitate women's decision, I have interpreted the professionals' and the pregnant women's attitudes to screening and have constructed a guideline to help professionals provide verbal or written pre-test information. I have suggested that an information leaflet should be given to all women prior to screening and communication training should be included in the post-graduate education of screening professionals, where the data of screening tests and the process of risk communication are taught.

Doctor-patient relationship: To get insight into the genetic counselling relationship, the views of counsellors on the goal of genetic counselling were explored, and a research was conducted on the genetic counselling expectations of pregnant women. Based on our research data, I have revealed that, besides detailed information and psychological support, women expected help with decision-making as well, and the fulfilments of expectations affected decisively the success of decision-making. Since, of the divergent genetic counselling methods promoted by counsellors, the interpretive method promised fulfilment of counsellees' expectations, I have proposed a shift from recent counselling methods to interpretive genetic counselling. The results and proposals of our research inspired the editors-in chief of EJOG & RB to launch a debate on genetic counselling in the journal.

Method of genetic counselling: In order to get knowledge about the counsellees' expectations and to help their decision-making, I have asserted that counsellors should understand the counsellees' situation. To promote the understanding process, I and a colleague have elaborated a methodological framework of interpretive genetic counselling that helps clarify the four most important factors of genetic counselling: the counsellee's values and needs; the medical, social, and moral impacts of the disease; and the social context. I think, if the interpretive method is properly applied, counsellors can give counsellees personalised information and emotional support, and can facilitate their careful deliberation without exerting paternalistic influence on them.

3) Wider social impacts of prenatal Down's syndrome screening: To emphasise the importance of taking into account both the needs of pregnant women and the interests of families having an affected child during the implementation of prenatal screening, I analysed the ten-year work of Down Symposium of Szeged that discussed jointly the issues of pre- and postnatal care. I have assessed the practice of the Symposium as worthy to follow, since it supported simultaneously the spread of prenatal screening and the improvement of the quality of life of people with disability. Concerning Down's syndrome screening in Hungary, I have promoted the introduction of universal screening, since only a formal programme can prevent the use of outdated methods, can ensure every pregnant woman access to care, and can adequately address ethical and communication issues.

In summary, the results of the Thesis can be applied as ethical guidelines by prenatal screening practitioners, relevant professional bodies, and health care policy makers. The data on the counselling expectations of women and the method of interpretive genetic counselling can be utilised by genetic counsellors and can be included in their post-graduate training. In academic education, the Thesis can serve as an example to present how medical ethics theories and day-to-day medical experiences can be combined. For medical ethicist, the Thesis can function as an encouragement to conduct descriptive ethical researches by which the effects of the specific Hungarian health care context on the operation of widely accepted ethical norms could be explored.

9. References

- Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Genetic screening. Ethical issues, 1993. http://www.nuffieldbioethics.org/fileLibrary/pdf/genetic_screening.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [2] Dobos M, Papp Z. Down-szindróma [Down's syndrome.]. In: Papp Z, editor. Klinikai genetika. [Clinical genetics.]. Budapest: Golden Book Kiadó; 1995. p. 552–562.
- [3] Noble J. Natural history of Down's syndrome: a brief review for those involved in antenatal screening. J Med Screen 1998;5:172-177.
- [4] March of Dimes Foundation. Pregnancy & newborn. Health education centre. Down syndrome. http://www.marchofdimes.com/pnhec/4439_1214.asp accessed 10/05/2009
- [5] Buckley S. Living with Down syndrome. http://www.downsyndrome.org/information/development/overview - accessed 10/05/2009
- [6] EUROCAT Special report: Prenatal screening policies in Europe. University of Ulster, 2005.
 p. 1-31. www.eurocat.ulster.ac.uk/pdf/Special-Report-Prenatal-Diagnosis.pdf accessed 10/05/2009
- [7] Ekelund CK, Jørgensen FS, Petersen OB, Sundberg K, Tabor A. Impact of a new national screening policy for Down's syndrome in Denmark: population based cohort study. BMJ 2008;337:a2547 doi:10.1136/bmj.a2547
- [8] Muller F, Forestier F, Dingeon B: Second-trimester trisomy 21 maternal serum marker screening. Results of a countrywide study of 854,902 patients. Prenat Diagn 2002;22:925–929.
- [9] Wald N, Huttly W, Wald K, Kennard A. Down's syndrome screening in UK. Lancet 1996;347:330.
- [10] Antenatal Down syndrome screening in New Zealand 2007. A Report of the Antenatal Down Syndrome Screening Advisory Group to the National Screening Unit. Wellington New Zealand 2007. http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/pagesmh/6085/\$File/antenatal-downsyndrome-screening-in-nz-2007-apr07.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [11] Szunyogh M, Horváth-Puhó E, Métneki J. A Down-kór gyakorisága a VRONY adatai alapján. [Prevalence of Down's syndrome according to the data of VRONY] Epinfo 2006;13:157-162.
- [12] Klinikai Genetikai Szakmai Kollégium. A Down-kór prenatális szűrése és diagnosztikája. Az Egészségügyi Minisztérium szakmai protokollja.[Prenatal Down's syndrome screening and diagnosis. Protocol of Ministry of Health] http://www.eum.hu/egeszsegpolitika/minosegfejlesztes/klinikai-genetika - accessed 10/05/2009
- [13] McMahan J. Is prenatal genetic screening unjustly discriminatory? Virtual Mentor (Ethics Journal of the American Medical Association) 2006;8:50-52. http://virtualmentor.amaassn.org/2006/01/oped1-0601.html - accessed 10/05/2009
- [14] Saxton M. Disabled women's view of selective abortion: an issue for all women. J Am Med Women's Ass. 1999;54:26-28
- [15] Asch A. Prenatal diagnosis and selective abortion: a challenge to practice and policy. Am J Pub Health 1999;89:1649-1657.
- [16] Parens E, Asch A. Disability rights critique of prenatal genetic testing: reflections and recommendations. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 2003;9:40-47.
- [17] Purdy LM. Reproducing persons. Issues in feminist bioethics. Cornell University Press, Ithaca and London, 1996.
- [18] Wertz DC, Fletcher JC. Feminist criticism of prenatal diagnosis: a response. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1993;36:541–567.

- [19] Danó A. Ingyenes lehet a speciális Down- szűrés. [Specific Down's syndrome screening may be provided without fee.]. Népszabadság, February 3, 2006.
- [20] Kun J. V. Markáns redők. [Significant folds.] Népszabadság. May 19, 2007.
- [21] Szabó J, Gellén J. Nuchal fluid accumulation in trisomy-21 detected by vaginosonography in first trimester. Lancet 1990;336ii:1133.
- [22] Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics. (4th edition) Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press; 1994. p.
- [23] Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics. (2nd edition) New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1983.
- [24] Gillon R. Philosophical medical ethics. Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore: John Wiley and Sons; 1994.
- [25] Kovács J. A modern orvosi etika alapjai. Bevezetés a bioetikába. [Bases of modern medical ethics. An introduction to bioethics.]. (2. kiad.). Budapest: Medicina Könyvkiadó Rt.; 1999.
- [26] Holm S. Not just autonomy the principles of American biomedical ethics. J Med Ethics 1995;21:332-338.
- [27] Thomasma DC. Training in medical ethics: An ethical workup. Forum on Medicine. 1978;33-36.
- [28] Svenaeus F. The hermeneutics of medicine and the phenomenology of health: Steps towards a philosophy of medical practice. Linköping: Department of Health and Society, Linköping University; 1999.
- [29] Viafora C. Toward a methodology for the ethical analysis of clinical practice. Med Health Care Philos 1999;2:283-297.
- [30] Gracia D. Moral deliberation: the role of methodologies in clinical ethics. Med Health Care Philos 2001;4:223-232.
- [31] Emanuel EJ, Emanuel LL: Four models of the physician-patient relationship. JAMA, 1992;267:2221-2226.
- [32] Daniel SL. The patient as text: a model of clinical hermeneutics. Theor Med 1986;7:195-210.
- [33] Gadamer H-G. Truth and method. 2nd rev. ed. London, New York: Continuum; 2004.
- [34] Have ten H. The hyperreality of clinical ethics: a unitary theory and hermeneutics. Theor Med Bioethics 1994;15:113-131.
- [35] Árnason V. Gadamerian dialogue in the patient-professional interaction. Med Health Care Philos 2000;3:17-23.
- [36] Tóth A, Nyári T, Szabó J. Changing views on the goal of reproductive genetic counselling in Hungary. Eur J Obstet Gynecol and RB 2008;137:3-9.
- [37] Drife J, Kuenzel W. Editors' highlights. Eur J Obstet Gynecol 2008;137:1-2.
- [38] Tóth A, Szeverényi P. Interpretation in reproductive genetic counseling: a methodological framework. J Psychosom Obstet Gynecol 2007;28:141-145.
- [39] Marteau TM. Towards informed decisions about prenatal testing: a review. Prenat Diagn 1995;15:1215–1226.
- [40] Al-Jader LN, Parry-Langdon N, Smith RJW. Survey of attitudes of pregnant women towards Down syndrome screening. Prenat Diagn 2000;20:23-29.
- [41] Lippman A, Wilfond BS. Twice-told tales: Stories about genetic disorders. Am J Hum Genet 1992;51:936-937.
- [42] Clarke A. Is nondirective counselling possible? Lancet 1991;338:998–1001.

- [43] Tóth A, Szabó J. A Down-szindróma praenatalis szűrésének néhány etikai vonatkozása. [Ethical implications of prenatal screening for Down's syndrome.] Orv Hetilap 2000;141:2293–2298.
- [44] Szabó J. A prenatális genetikai diagnosztika lehetőségei. [Options for prenatal genetic diagnosis.]. Magy Nőorv Lapja 2000;63:3-13
- [45] Ball RH, Caughey AB, Melone FD, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, et.al. First- and second-trimester evaluation of risk for Down syndrome. Obstet Gynecol 2007;110:10–17.
- [46] Offendal K, Blaas H-GK, Eik-Nes SH. Prenatal detection of trisomy 21 by second-trimester ultrasound examination and maternal age in a non-selected population of 49 314 births in Norway. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2008;32:493-500.
- [47] Tóth A. The birth of bioethics and its basic principles. In: Pikó B, editor. Introduction to medicine. Basic principles of behavioral sciences and preventive medicine. Szeged: University of Szeged; 2004. p. 133-145.
- [48] Harris J. Is there a coherent social conception of disability? J Med Ethics 2000;26:95-100.
- [49] Gillam L. Prenatal diagnosis and discrimination against the disabled. J Med Ethics 1999;25:163–171.
- [50] King DS. Preimplantation genetic diagnosis and the 'new' eugenics. J Med Ethics 1999;25:176–182.
- [51] Wikler D. Can we learn from eugenics? J Med Ethics 1999;25:183–194.
- [52] European Commission. Community research. The independent expert group. Ethical, legal and social aspects of genetic testing: research, development, and clinical applications. http://ec.europa.eu/research/conferences/2004/genetic/pdf/report_en.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [53] Török O. A genetikai betegségekről általában [On genetic diseases.] http://www.humangenetika.hu/betegtajekoztato.aspx?Ord=0 - accessed 10/05/2009
- [54] Hildt E. Autonomy and freedom of choice in prenatal genetic diagnosis. Med Health Care Philos 2002;5:65-71.
- [55] Purdy L. Women's reproductive autonomy: medicalisation and beyond. J Med Ethics 2006;32:287–291.
- [56] Meyer LK. Reproductive rights. Editorial. Ethical Perspectives 2003;10:173-175.
- [57] Haker H Reproductive autonomy in light of responsible parenthood. Harvard Divinity Bulletin 2006;34: http://www.hds.harvard.edu/news/bulletin_mag/articles/34-1_haker.html accessed 10/05/2009
- [58] Rothman BK. Recreating motherhood: ideology and technology in a patriarchal society. Norton; 1989. p. 115-116.
- [59] Zeiler K. Reproductive autonomous choice A cherished illusion? Med Health Care Philos 2004;7:175-183.
- [60] Tóth A. A Down-szindróma prenatális diagnózisát követő terhességmegszakítás etikai kérdései. [Ethical issues of pregnancy termination following the diagnosis of Down's syndrome.] Pediáter 1999;8:311-316.
- [61] Women's Rights World: Christianity and abortion. http://www.womensrightsworld.com/christianity/html/christian-views-on-abortion.html accessed 10/05/2009
- [62] Fagot-Largeault A. Abortion and arguments from potential. In: Gillon R, editor. Principles of health care ethics. John Wiley & Sons; 1994. p. 577-586.
- [63] Glover J. Causing death and saving lives. London: Penguin Books; 1990. p. 146-147.

- [64] Harris J. One principle and three fallacies of disability studies. J Med Ethics 2001;27:383– 387.
- [65] 1992. évi LXXIX. törvény a magzati élet védelméről. [Act LXXIX of 1992 on the protection of foetal life.] http://net.jogtar.hu/jr/gen/hjegy_doc.cgi?docid=99200079.TV – accessed 10/05/2009
- [66] Newberger DS. Down syndrome: Prenatal risk assessment and diagnosis. Am Fam Phys 2000, August 15. http://www.aafp.org/afp/20000815/825.html accessed 10/05/2009
- [67] Gilbert RE, Augood C, Gupta R, Ades AE, Logan S, Sculpher M, Meulen van der JHP. Screening for Down's syndrome: effects, safety, and cost effectiveness of first and second trimester strategies. BMJ 2001;323:1–6.
- [68] Maymon R, Zimerman AL, Weinraub Z, Herman A, Cuckle H. Correlation between nuchal translucency and nuchal skin-fold measurements in Down syndrome and unaffected fetuses. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008;32:501-5.
- [69] Mennuti MT, Driscoll DA. Screening for Down's syndrome too many choices? N Engl J Med 2003;349:1471-1473.
- [70] Cuckle H, Benn P, Wright D. Down syndrome screening in the first and/or second trimester: model predicted performance using meta-analysis parameters. Semin Perinatol 2005;29:252-7.
- [71] Gekas J, Gagné G, Bujold E, Douillard D, Forest J-C, Reinharz D, Rousseau F. Comparison of different strategies in prenatal screening for Down's syndrome: cost effectiveness analysis of computer simulation. BMJ 2009;338;b138, doi:10.1136/bmj.b138.
- [72] Wald NJ, Kennard A, Hackshaw A, McGuire A. Antenatal screening for Down's syndrome. Health Technol Assessment 1998;2(1).
- [73] Snijders RJ, Noble P, Sebire N, Souka A, Nicolaides KH. UK multicenter project on assessment of risk of trisomy 21 by maternal age and fetal nuchal-translucency thickness at 10–14 weeks of gestation. Lancet, 1998;351:342–346.
- [74] Cicero S, Curcio P, Papageorghiou A, Sonek J, Nicolaides K. Absence of nasal bone in fetuses with trisomy 21 at 11-14 weeks of gestation: an observational study. Lancet 2001;358:1665-7.
- [75] Nicolaides KH, The 11-13⁺⁶ weeks scan. London: Fetal Medicine Foundation; 2004. http://www.studiolift.com/fetal/site/FMF-English.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [76] Spencer K, Spencer CE, Power M, Dawson C, Nicolaides KH. Screening for chromosomal abnormalities in the first trimester using ultrasound and maternal serum biochemistry in a one-stop clinic: a review of three years prospective experience. BJOG 2003;110:281–6.
- [77] Cicero S, Bindra R, Rembouskos G, Spencer K, Nicolaides KH. Integrated ultrasound and biochemical screening for trisomy 21 using fetal nuchal translucency, absent fetal nasal bone, free beta-hCG and PAPP-A at 11 to 14 weeks. Prenat Diagn 2003;23:306-10.
- [78] Wald NJ, Rodeck C, Hackshaw AK, Walters J, Chitty L, Mackinson AM. First and second trimester antenatal screening for Down's syndrome: the results of the Serum, Urine and Ultrasound Screening Study (SURUSS). Health Technol Assess 2003;7(11).
- [79] Malone FD, Canick JA, Ball RH, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, Bukowski R. First-trimester or second-trimester screening, or both, for Down's syndrome. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2001-11.
- [80] Benn PA, Campbell WA, Zelop CM, Ingardia C, Egan JF. Stepwise sequential screening for fetal aneuploidy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007;197:312.e1-5.
- [81] Falcon O, Auer M, Gerovassili A, Spencer K, Nicolaides KH. Screening for trisomy 21 by fetal tricuspid regurgitation, nuchal translucency and maternal serum free beta-hCG and PAPP-A at 11⁺⁰ to 13⁺⁶ weeks. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2006;27:151-5.

- [82] ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 77: Screening for fetal chromosomal abnormalities. Obstet Gynecol 2007;109:217-228.
- [83] Palomaki GE, Steinort K, Knight GJ, Haddow JE. Comparing three screening strategies for combining first- and second-trimester Down syndrome markers. Obstet Gynecol 2006;107:367-75.
- [84] Cuckle HS, Malone FD, Wright D, Porter TF, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, et. al. Contingent screening for Down syndrome--results from the FaSTER trial. Prenat Diagn. 2008;28:89-94.
- [85] Wald NJ, Rudnicka AR, Bestwick JP. Sequential and contingent prenatal screening for Down syndrome. Prenat Diagn. 2006;26:769-77.
- [86] The Fetal Medicine Foundation. http://www.fetalmedicine.com/fmf/online-education/01-11-136-week-scan/ - accessed 10/05/2009
- [87] Mulvey S, Wallace EM. Women's knowledge of and attitudes to first and second trimester screening for Down's syndrome. BJOG 2000;107:1302–5.
- [88] Sharma G, Gold HT, Chervenak FA, McCullough L, Alt AK, Chasen ST. Patient preference regarding first-trimester aneuploidy risk assessment. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005;193:1429-1436.
- [89] Wellesley D, Boyle T, Barber J, Howe DT. Retrospective audit of different antenatal screening policies for Down's syndrome in eight district general hospitals in one health region. BMJ 2002;325:15, doi: 10.1136/bmj.325.7354.15
- [90] Wyatt P. Integrated, sequential, and contingent screening for Down syndrome local needs should drive methodology. Prenat Diagn. 2007;27:186-7.
- [91] EuroGentest. Recommendations for genetic counselling related to genetic testing (Draft 2). Last changed: 2008-02-04. http://www.eurogentest.org/web/info/public/unit3/draft_recommendations_genetic_counselling.xhtml - accessed 10/05/2009
- [92] Santalahti P, Aro AR, Hemminki E, Helenius H, Ryynänen M. On what ground do women participate in prenatal screening. Prenat Diagn 1998;18:153-165.
- [93] Pryde PG, Drugan A, Johnson MP, Isada NB, Evans MI. Prenatal diagnosis: choices women make about pursuing testing and acting on abnormal results. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1993;36:496–509.
- [94] Statham H, Green J. Serum screening for Down's syndrome: some women's experiences. BMJ 1993;307:174-176.
- [95] Marteau TM. Psychological consequences of screening for Down's syndrome. BMJ 1993; 307:146-147.
- [96] Thorthon JG, Hewison J, Lilford RJ, Vail A. A randomised trial of three methods of giving information about prenatal testing. BMJ 1995;311:1127-1130.
- [97] Warner D. Recent advances in obstetrics. BMJ 1996;312:379.
- [98] Gekas J, Gondry J, Mazur S, Cesbron P, Thepot F. Informed consent to serum screening for Down syndrome: are women given adequate information? Prenat Diagn 1999;19:1-7.
- [99] Smith DK, Shaw RW, Marteau TM. Informed consent to undergo serum screening for Down's syndrome: the gap between policy and practice. BMJ 1994;309:776.
- [100] Bramwell R, West H, Salmon P. Health professionals' and service users' interpretation of screening test results: experimental study. BMJ 2006;333:284-287.
- [101] National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health. Antenatal care: routine care for the healthy pregnant woman. London, UK: RCOG Press; 2008. www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG62FullGuidelineCorrectedJune2008.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009

- [102] Green JM. Serum screning for Down's syndrome: experiences of obstetricians in England and Wales. BMJ 1994;309:769-772.
- [103] Haddow JE. Antenatal screening for Down's syndrome: where are we and where next? Lancet 1998;352:336-337.
- [104] Buckley F, Buckley S. Wrongful deaths and rightful lives screening for Down syndrome. Down Synd Res Pract 2008;12:79-86. www.down-syndrome.org/research-practice accessed 10/05/2009
- [105] Glasson EJ, Sullivan SG, Hussain R, Petterson BA, Montgomery PD, Bittles AH: The changing survival profile of people with Down's syndrome: Implications for genetic counselling. Clin Genet 2002;62:390–393.
- [106] Haddow JE. We should do better at explaining results. West J Med 2001,174:373.
- [107] Murray J, Cuckle H, Sehmi I, Wilson C, Ellis A. Quality of written information used in Down syndrome screening. Prenat Diagn 2001;21:138-142.
- [108] Tóth A, Szabó J. A tájékoztatás legfontosabb etikai vonatkozásai a Down-szindróma praenatalis szűrése során. [Ethical aspects of disclosing information on prenatal screening for Down's syndrome.] Orv Hetil 2005;146:259-265.
- [109] Smith DK, Shaw RW, Slack J, Marteau TM. Training osbtetricians and midwives to present screening tests evaluation of two brief interventions. Prenat Diagn 1995;15:317-324.
- [110] Venn-Treloar J. Nuchal translucency screening without consent. BMJ 1998;316:1026.
- [111] Bryant LD, Murray J, Green JM, Hewison J, Sehmi I Ellis A. Descriptive information about Down syndrome: a content analysis of serum screening leaflets. Prenat Diagn 2001;21:1057-1063.
- [112] Nordgren A. Wisdom, casuistry, and the goal of reproductive counseling. Med Health Care Philos 2002;5:281–289.
- [113] Török O., Papp, Z.: Genetikai szűrések, epidemiológiai alapfogalmak. [Genetic screening, basic epidemiological terminology.] In: Papp Z, editor. Klinikai genetika. [Clinical genetics.]. Budapest: Golden Book Kiadó; 1995. p. 322–333.
- [114] Papp Z, Verebély T. A terhesség sorsáról való dontés általános szempontjai. [General aspects of deciding about the future of a pregnancy.] In: Papp Z, editor. Klinikai genetika. [Clinical genetics.]. Budapest: Golden Book Kiadó; 1995. p. 341-349.
- [115] Tóth A. Psychological impacts and the ethics of prenatal screening. In: Szeverényi P, Nijs P, Richter D, editors. Proceedings of the VIIth European Symposium on Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology. Debrecen (Hungary) September 27-29, 2001, University of Debrecen, Hungary; 2002. p. 99-103.
- [116] Coulter A, Ellins J. Effectiveness of strategies for informing, educating, and involving patients. BMJ. 2007;335:24-7.
- [117] Barry MJ. Health decision aids to facilitate shared decision making in office practice. Ann Intern Med. 2002;136:127-135.
- [118] Moore WMO. All parents should be given leaflet outlining full details of antenatal screening. BMJ 1999;319:259.
- [119] What to say (and not to say). www.downs-syndrome.org.uk/news-andmedia/what-to-saynot-to-say.html - accessed 10/05/2009
- [120] Screening Choices: A resource for health professionals offering antenatal and newborn care. Unit: Understanding and communicating risk. London: UK National Screening Committee; 2005. p. 1-29.
- [121] Michie S, Lester K, Pinto J, Marteau TM. Communicating risk information in genetic counseling: an observational study. Health Educ Behavior 2005;32:589-598.

- [122] Nicolaides KH, Chervenak FA, McCullough LB, Avgidou K, Papageorgiou A. Evidencebased obstetric ethics and informed decision-making by pregnant women about invasive diagnosis after first-trimester assessment of risk for trisomy 21. Am J Obst Gynecol 2005;193:322-6.
- [123] Csermely Gy, Gasztonyi Z, Kónya M, Kurcsics J, Siklós P. A 11. és 13+6. terhességi hét között végzett ultrahang- és biokémiaivizsgálaton alapuló szűrés első tapasztalatai Magyarországon. [First experiences of ultrasound and biochemical screening at 11 to 13+6 weeks of pregnancy in Hungary.] Magy Nőorv Lapja 2006;69:285-288.
- [124] Tversky A, Kahneman, D. The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. Science, 1981;211:453-458.
- [125] Kessler S, Levine E. Psychological aspects of genetic counseling. IV. The subjective assessment of probability. Am J Med Genet 1987;28:361-370.
- [126] Fraser FC. Genetic counseling. Am J Hum Genet 1974;26:636–59.
- [127] World Medical Association statement on genetic counseling and genetic engineering. Adopted in 1987, rescinded in 2005. http://www.wma.net/e/policy/c15.htm - accessed 10/05/2009.
- [128] Odoncu FS. The role of non-directiveness in genetic counseling. Med Health Care Phil 2002;5:53–63.
- [129] Caplan AL. Neutrality is not morality: the ethics of genetic counseling. In: Bartels DM, LeRoy BS, Caplan AL, editors. Prescribing our future. Ethical challenges in genetic counseling. New York: Aldine de Gruyter; 1993. p. 149–165.
- [130] Shiloh S. Decision-making in the context of genetic risk. In: Marteau T, Richards M, editors. The troubled helix: social and psychological implications of the new human genetics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1996. p. 82–103.
- [131] Anderson G. Nondirectiveness in prenatal genetics: patients read between the lines. Nurs Ethics 1999;6:126–36.
- [132] Gervais KG. Objectivity, value neutrality, and nondirectiveness in genetic counseling. In: Bartels DM, LeRoy BS, Caplan AL, editors. Prescribing our future. Ethical challenges in genetic counseling. New York: Aldine de Gruyter; 1993. p. 119–130.
- [133] Rentmeester CA. Value neutrality in genetic counseling: an unattained ideal. Med Health Care Philos 2001;41:47–51.
- [134] Shiloh S, Saxe L. Perception of risk in genetic counselling. Psychol Health 1989;3:45–61.
- [135] Michie M,Bron F, Bobrow M,Marteau TM. Nondirectiveness in genetic counseling: an empirical study. Am J Hum Genet 1997;60:40–7.
- [136] Klinikai Genetikai Szakmai Kollégium. Genetikai tanácsadás. Az Egészségügyi Minisztérium szakmai protokollja. [Genetic counselling. Protocol of Ministry of Health.] [http://www.eum.hu/egeszsegpolitika/minosegfejlesztes/klinikai-genetika - accessed 10/05/2009
- [137] Czeizel A. The right to be born healthy. The ethical problems of human genetics in Hungary. Budapest, New York: Akadémiai Kiadó, Liss; 1988. p. 21–40.
- [138] Czeizel E. Egy orvosgenetikus etikai gondjai. [Ethical concerns of a human geneticist.]. Budapest: Kossuth Könyvkiadó; 1983. p. 30–35.
- [139] Czeizel A, Metneki J, Osztovics M. Evaluation of information-guidance genetic counselling. J Med Genet 1981;2:91–8.
- [140] Papp Z, Tóth-Pál E, Papp CS. Non-directive prenatal genetic counseling. In: Kurjak A, Chervenak FA, editors. The fetus as a patient. New York, London: Parthenon; 1994. p. 71–7.
- [141] Papp Z. Genetikai tanácsadás [Genetic counselling.]. In: Papp Z, editor. Klinikai genetika [Clinical genetics.]. Budapest: Golden Book Kiadó; 1995. p. 316–21.

- [142] Papp Cs, Tóth-Pál E. Genetikai tanácsok gyermeket váró szülőknek [Genetic counselling for prospective parents.]. Budapest: Springer; 2002.
- [143] Török O. A genetikai tanácsadás gyakorlata és hatékonysága. Kandidátusi értekezés [Practice and efficacy of genetic counselling. Doctoral dissertation]. Debrecen; 1990.
- [144] Tóth A, Szabó J. Miért nem lehetséges a semleges jellegű genetikai tanácsadás? [Why is non-directive genetic counselling impossible?] Magy Nőorv Lapja 2005;68:113–20.
- [145] Rozenberg S, Ham H. Effect of physicians' opinion on patients' choice of treatment. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2001;96:215–7.
- [146] Tóth A. The role of values in genetic counselling. Studia Bioetica Volume 2. p. 1-7. 2005 http://utopia.duth.gr/~xirot/BIOETHICS - accessed 10/05/2009
- [147] Davey A, Rostand K, Harrop K, Goldblatt J, O'Leary P. Evaluating genetic counseling: client expectations, psychological adjustment and satisfaction with service. J Genet Couns 2005;14:197–206.
- [148] Bernhardt BA, Biesecker BB, Mastromarino CL. Goals, benefits, and outcomes of genetic counseling: client and genetic counselor assessment. Am J Med Genet 2000;94:189–97.
- [149] Michie S, Marteau TM, Bobrow M. Genetic counselling: the psychological impacts of meeting patients' expectations. J Med Genet 1997;34:237–41.
- [150] Seller MJ. Genetic counselling. In: Gillon R, editor. Principles of health care ethics. Chichester, New York: Wiley; 1994. p. 961–70.
- [151] Wertz DC, Sorenson JR. Client reactions to genetic counseling: self-reports of influence. Clin Genet 1986;30:494–502.
- [152] Kentenich H, Siedentopf F. Psychosomatics and reproductive medicine: a good relationship? J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol 2002;23:1–3.
- [153] Baylis F, Downie J. Professional recommendations: disclosing facts and values. J Med Ethics 2001;27:20–24.
- [154] Quagliarini D, Betti S, Brambati B, Nicolini U: Coping with serum screening for Down syndrome when the result is given as numeric value. Prenat Diagn 1998;18:816-821.
- [155] Endres M. Psychosocial aspects of genetic counselling. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol 1990;11(suppl.1):1–3.
- [156] White MT. Decision-making through dialogue: reconfiguring autonomy in genetic counseling. Theor Med Bioeth 1998;19:5–19.
- [157] Charles C, Whelan T, Gafni A. What do we mean by partnership in making decisions about treatment? BMJ 1999; 319:780–782.
- [158] Widdershoven GA. The doctor-patient relationship as a Gadamerian dialogue: a response to Arnason. Med Health Care Philos 2000;3:25–27.
- [159] Whitney SN, McGuire AL, McCullough LB. A typology of shared decision making, informed consent, and simple consent. Ann Intern Med 2003;140:54–59.
- [160] Bakos M, Rákos M, Veszprémi B, Tihanyi M, Tankó A, Bakos L, Andréka B, Benedek K, Rétfalvi T, Schumann Á. A Down kór biokémiai szűrésének Magyarországi tapasztalatai.
 [Experience with biochemical screening for Down's syndrome in Hungary.] Orvostudományi Értesítő, 2007;80(1): 28-31. http://www.orvtudert.ro/2007_80_1/PDF/2007-1-8.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [161] Papp Cs. Genetikai szűrések a terhesség során. [Genetic screening during pregnancy.] Nőgyógy Szül Továbbk Szemle 2005;7:256–265.
- [162] A Down kór szűrése. [Screening for Down's syndrome.] PTE Szülészeti és Nőgyógyászati Klinika. http://aok.pte.hu/docs/szuleszet/file/Down-szorolap-Pecs-2006-web.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009

- [163] A Down-kór szűrése az anyai szérum biokémiai markereivel. [Serum screening for Down's syndrome.] Medicenter, Szeged. http://www.mediteam.hu/down.htm - accessed 10/05/2009
- [164] A Down-kór szűrése. [Screening for Down's syndrome.] SZTE Szülészeti és Nőgyógyászati Klinika. http://www.szote.u-szeged.hu/obgyn/down/Down_flyer_Szeged_2008.pdf accessed 10/05/2009
- [165] A Down kór szűrése. [Screening for Down's syndrome.] Petz Aladár Megyei Oktató Kórház, Győr. http://www.gyoriszuleszet.hu/uploads/down/down2008.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [166] Biokémiai szűrés (tripla teszt) alkalmazása terhességben. [Applying biochemical screening (triple test) in pregnancies.] Zala Megyei Kórház Genetikai laboratórium http://www.mldt.hu/upload/labor/document/Zalai_Down_plakat_5_2007_08.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009
- [167] Down-kór szűrés anyai vérből és ultrahanggal. [Ultrasound and maternal serum screening for Down's syndrome.] Istenhegyi Géndiagnosztikai, Nőgyógyászati és Családtervezési Centrum. http://www.gendiagnosztika.hu/gendiagnosztika/down-kor-szures.html - accessed 10/05/2009
- [168] A Down-kór szűrése. [Screening for Down's syndrome] Kaposi Mór Oktató Kórház. http://www.kmmk.hu/hefop_kaposvar/pages/Cikk.aspx?id=3904 - accessed 10/05/2009
- [169] Council of Europe. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine: Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine. Oviedo, 4.IV.1997 http://conventions.coe.int/treaty/EN/Treaties/Html/164.htm - accessed 10/05/2009
- [170] Csató Zs. A Down-kóros emberek lehetőségei ma Magyarországon. [Current opportunities of people with Down's syndrome in Hungary.] I. Down szimpózium. Program és előadásösszefoglalók. Szeged; 1998. p. 28.
- [171] Down Alapítvány. A Down szindrómáról. [Down Foundation. On Down's syndrome.] http://www.downalapitvany.hu/ - accessed 10/05/2009
- [172] Tóth A. A Szegedi Down szimpóziumok néhány etikai tapasztalata. [Ethics experiences of Down Syndrome Symposiums of Szeged.] VI. Down szimpózium. Programfüzet és előadásösszefoglalók. Szeged; 2006. p. 8-10.
- [173] Tóth A. Az értelmező orvosi etika szerepe a Down-szindrómás gyermeket nevelő családok és az orvosaik közötti kapcsolat kialakításában. [Role of interpretive ethics in building relations between physicians and families having children with Down's syndrome.] Pediáter 2000;9:297-305.
- [174] Gruitz K. A Down Alapítvány tevékenységének rövid ismertetése. [Brief report on the activity of Down Foundation.] I. Down szimpózium. Program és előadásösszefoglalók. Szeged, 1998; p. 25-26.
- [175] Kovácsné Patyik G. Egy anya személyes élménye Down kóros gyermeke születése kapcsán. [Personal experiences of a mother having a child with Down's syndrome.] II. Down szimpózium. Program és előadásösszefoglalók. Szeged; 1999. p. 24-25.
- [176] Gárdonyi B. Tamás könyve. [Book of Tamás.] Pécs: Fogd a Kezem! Alapítvány; 2001. http://mek.niif.hu/02000/02014/02014.htm - accessed 10/05/2009
- [177] Szunyogh M, Sándor J. Tájékoztatási protokollokról szóló éves jelentési rendszer elindítása a VRONY-ban. [A VRONY initiation of an annual report on patient information protocols] VI. Down szimpózium. Programfüzet és előadásösszefoglalók. Szeged; 2006. p. 26.
- [178] Down szindrómás gyermekek komplex szűrése, ellátása, és tanácsadás. A SZTE SZAOTE Gyermekklinika és a Szivárvány Szülő Alapítvány közös szolgáltatása. [Complex screening, treatment and counselling for children with Down's syndrome. Joint service of Department of Paediatrics, University of Szeged and Rainbow Parent Foundation.] http://www.adhat.hu/files/1/4/5/8/7/14587_Szivarvany_leporello_ambulancia.pdf - accessed 10/05/2009

APPENDICES

Adél Tóth, Tibor Nyári, János Szabó:

Changing views on the goal of reproductive genetic counselling in Hungary.

European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology & Reproductive Biology 2008;137(1):3-9.

Adél Tóth, Péter Szeverényi:

Interpretation in reproductive genetic counseling: a methodological framework.

Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology 2007;28(3):141-145.

Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr.:

A tájékoztatás legfontosabb etikai vonatkozásai a Down-szindróma praenatalis szűrése során.

Orvosi Hetilap 2005;146(6):259-265.

Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr.:

Miért nem lehetséges a semleges jellegű genetikai tanácsadás?

Magyar Nőorvosok Lapja 2005;68(0):113-120.

Adél Tóth:

The role of values in genetic counselling.

Studia Bioetica Volume 2, p. 1-7, 2005

http://utopia.duth.gr/~xirot/BIOETHICS - accessed 10/05/2009

Tóth Adél, Szabó János dr.:

A Down-szindróma praenatalis szűrésének néhány etikai vonatkozása.

Orvosi Hetilap 2000;141(42):2293-2298.

Tóth Adél:

Az értelmező orvosi etika szerepe a Down-szindrómás gyermeket nevelő családok és az orvosaik közötti kapcsolat kialakításában.

Pediáter 2000;9(4):297-305.

Tóth Adél:

A Down-szindróma prenatális diagnózisát követő terhességmegszakítás etikai kérdései.

Pediáter 1999;8(4):311-316.

Adél Tóth:

The birth of bioethics and its basic principles.

In: Bettina Pikó (ed.): Introduction to medicine. Basic principles of behavioral sciences and preventive medicine. University of Szeged, Szeged, 2004. p. 133-145.